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Foreword by the ICB Chair 

I am delighted to present this first Annual Report for NHS Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (ICB). Our journey began, as a new 

organisation, on 1 July 2022 building on the work we had been doing as partners 

across the system for several years. I knew that the change represented by the 

establishment of ICBs across the country made real the opportunity I have been 

hoping would happen for many years.  We have made considerable progress both 

as an organisation on our own priorities and also through the delivery of activity in 

support of the system since that date. I continue to have very high aspirations for  

our system and the last twelve months have shown what we can achieve when we 

aim to be the very best we can be for our population.   

A key part of how we are ensuring that the ICB is stepping into its system leadership 

role is through a programme of development and support for our Board members.  

As a collection of experienced leaders, the Board members are fully expected to be 

able to deliver but as a new unitary Board coming together for the first time it has 

been important to place deliberate focus on our collective growth and understanding. 

Some of key interactions for the Board have included sessions dedicated to team 

building and providing an overview of the ICB’s functions and key projects.  These 

sessions included, getting to know each other, and understanding the role and 

functions of the ICB, including those functions new to the ICB and those conferred 

from CCGs.  The sessions also reviewed the differing roles of Board members and 

discussed the ICB’s vision, values and behaviours. 

Discrete sessions were held on new areas of ICB functions, including understanding 

in greater details the operation of the NHS Provider Selection Regime and People 

and Culture, which explored the national policy context, the ICB’s role, a system 

diagnostic, future requirements and how the system could add value as a system. A 

session also discussed Clinical transformation, providing an overview of the work of 

the Clinical Design Authority and System Analytics and Intelligence Unit on clinical 

prioritisation and how this will support the system to deliver intelligence-based 

clinical transformation. 

Other externally facilitated sessions included interactive sessions on the principles 

for conflicts of interest management, practical scenarios to explore Board decision-

making, and consideration of the ICB’s risk appetite. 

One of the first roles of the ICB was to set up, with the two Local Authorities, a joint 

committee, the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), which I chair.  The two Councillors 

from Nottinghamshire County Council and Nottingham City Council, who chair the 

Health and Wellbeing Boards are Vice Chairs of the ICP. I am pleased with our 

diverse and engaged membership of the ICP, including leaders from the voluntary 

sector, the education sector and social care providers. It is great to see partnership 

working across our system leading to the publication in March 2023 of an excellent 



Integrated Care Strategy. The role of the ICB will be to lead the delivery of the aims 

in the Integrated Care Strategy for the NHS through our Joint Forward Plan.    

Through the NHS Joint Forward Plan we will be able to sharpen and embed our 

focus on our three principles within the Integrated Care Strategy: those of 

Prevention, Equity and Integration.  The ICB’s focus on prevention and a 

determination to make a difference in this space includes the establishment of a 

dedicated fund, ensuring our commitment to this agenda is backed up with 

appropriate resources and action.  Delivery on our ambitions on Equity will require 

similar prioritisation of investments and transformation activities and careful work to 

rebalance focus away from areas where less support is needed.  Integration will 

continue to be our watchword, and through our work within the System and also with 

neighbouring systems in the East Midlands we will fund ways to be more joined up 

and coherent for our citizens, staff and stakeholders.   

The ICB is but one part of the complex and adaptive system that we operate within, 

and I continue to be of the firm view that it sits at the very bottom of our ‘inverted 

pyramid’ – with our population at the top, driving our priorities and ambitions, flowing 

through our Places and other collaborative forums and only then reaching the ICB.  

We serve our population, not the other way around.  But any pyramid, inverted or 

otherwise, needs to have firm foundations and I believe that the ICB has established 

those foundations in its first year of operation. There is much still to do but we should 

be proud of our first twelve months and look forward with positive anticipation to the 

year ahead.   

 

Dr Kathy McLean 

Chair of NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board 
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Performance Overview 

This section of the annual report provides an overview of our organisation, 

describing who we are, what we do and summarises how we have performed during 

the period 1 July 2022 (when the ICB was established) to 31 March 2023. 

Statement from our Chief Executive  

I am very proud of what the ICB’s teams have achieved in our first nine months and I 

would like to thank the teams that led the legal establishment of our new 

organisation, while managing the safe closure and transfer of assets and liabilities 

from the former clinical commissioning groups (CCG): NHS Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire CCG and NHS Bassetlaw CCG. But more than the safe transfer, I 

am especially pleased that we have created four new directorates for our 

organisation – Medical, Quality and Nursing, Integration and Finance. We have four 

key Executive Directors leading these teams and steering the overall development of 

the organisation. The establishment of any new organisation is a challenge: creating 

a new culture, setting priorities, managing the transfer of people and other assets. 

These factors combined with the operational context in which ICBs were brought into 

life, have provided a number of challenges during the ICB’s first year. This annual 

report talks more about some of these challenges, as well as describing our 

achievements and how we have exercised our functions over the period. 

Almost from the start of our time as an ICB the pressures on the health and care 

system have been considerable – driven by a combination of staff absences, 

extreme weather (both hot and cold) and issues with flow through and out of our 

hospitals. This has meant a series of critical incidents being declared across the 

system which required the ICB and its teams to support the safe management of the 

risks these presented. Towards the end of the period this report covers we also 

experienced the impact of the national industrial action by nurses and doctors.  

Working closely with colleagues in our NHS provider organisations, our local 

authority partners and our communities and wider civil society, we have been able to 

navigate these challenges together. The ICB intends in the coming year to find a 

sustainable solution to the issues of demand, capacity and flow through our 

emergency care services as this is not a sustainable position but in the absence of 

this longer-term plan, I am proud of the way our teams collectively rose to the 

challenges presented.   

Listening carefully to our population and their aspirations and needs for their health 

and care services is a critical part of our work as an ICB. It has been pleasing 

therefore to see the ICB’s citizen intelligence and co-production strategies really start 

to move into their stride this year. The establishment and flourishing of the Citizen 

Intelligence Advisory Group with a clear link into the ICB’s committee structure is a 

really positive step forward. The work of this Group along with the wider Practitioners 

Forum for the whole system means that we have a strong governance of the 
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listening, involvement and engagement activities across the system which will inform 

our strategic transformation projects as well as day-to-day service delivery. We are 

also working closely with the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) 

sector, with a VCSE Alliance Group now well established. Finally, the organisation is 

committed to co-production and the establishment of the Strategic Co-production 

Group means that we now have a group with majority lived-experience membership 

to help shape our approach to detailed service design. 

Alongside this comprehensive approach to listening to and working with people and 

communities, we are also making strong progress as an ICB in using data and 

intelligence more systematically.  The ongoing success of the System Analytics and 

Intelligence Unit (SAIU) means that we have a single version of the truth when it 

comes to key information about waiting lists, discharge, demand and capacity and 

much more. Our ICB is on a journey, moving from an organisation that is data heavy 

to an organisation that is intelligence rich. The SAIU’s aim is to give users within the 

system self-service access to population intelligence as well as bespoke reporting 

that proactively supports decision making. We have been working collaboratively 

with system colleagues to develop a number of products that help to put intelligence 

at the heart of decision making.   

As we look forward to the year ahead and the implementation of our Integrated Care 

Strategy, not least through the development of the ICB’s Joint Forward Plan, we will 

remain agile and responsive as an organisation. The Government has asked us to 

find efficiencies in our overheads and running costs for the ICB and we are using this 

as an opportunity to transform the ICB into the organisation we need it be for the 

future. This will mean some change for our teams and possibly the movement of 

some roles into other organisations or into joint teams. All of this will mean that the 

need for us all to work differently will be more important than ever. The Review 

published in April 2023 by the Rt Hon Patricia Hewitt gives us some helpful pointers 

for the future and I look forward with optimism to the developments the next year will 

bring to the way health and care is delivered across our local area. We are still in an 

important and exciting period in the further development of integrated care, and I am 

looking forward to playing a part in driving this forward, alongside system partners 

from the NHS, Local Authorities and the voluntary, community and social enterprise 

sector. 
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action being undertaken. The level of demand for cancer services has been around 

20% higher than seen during 2019/20, which when combined with periods of 

constrained activity delivery, such as during critical incidents or during industrial 

action, has been challenging for services. However, we have seen reductions in the 

volume of patients that are waiting for cancer services over 62 days.  

The ICB has performed well across its mental health targets; with increases seen in 

the numbers of patients with referrals for talking therapies, community mental health 

services, perinatal care, individual placement support and children and young 

people’s services. During 2022/23, access to children and young people’s services 

has exceeded the expected plan each month, with an additional 4,000 contacts 

being in place. 

We continue to work closely with our partners across the health and social care 

community to improve performance through implementation of robust recovery 

plans.  

 

 

 

Financial Performance 

The ICB has a responsibility to manage our finances carefully to make sure we are 

able to deliver our everyday commitments, as well as to invest in securing the 

delivery of continuous improvements in the quality of services provided for our 

patients and citizens. Many factors can influence how much we have to spend, for 

example, the national economy, a major incident, unexpected increased demand for 

local health services, or projects taking longer than planned. It is therefore important 

that we have contingency plans in place to ensure that we can flex our finances 

accordingly. 

The ICB achieved all its statutory financial duties for the reporting period, and you 

can read more about these and other key statutory duties in the Performance 

Analysis section of this annual report.  For full details of our accounts please see the 

Annual Accounts section of this annual report.  

 

Our Principal Risks 

We have a clear and integrated approach to risk management, combined with 

defined ownership of risk at all levels within the organisation. Identifying and 

assessing risks at both strategic and operational levels is a well-embedded process 

within the ICB. 

Our Risk Management Policy clearly sets out how the organisation will identify, 

manage and monitor its strategic and operational risks in a consistent, systematic 

and co-ordinated manner. Operational risks arising from day-to-day activities are 
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monitored through our Operational Risk Register and strategic risks are monitored 

via our Board Assurance Framework.   

The main risks identified by the ICB and monitored through the Operational Risk 

Register during the reporting period related to the potential impacts of under-

achieving areas of service delivery, such as an increased risk of harm to patients 

and the impact on health outcomes; the risk of patient harm and poor patient 

experience at some of our main healthcare providers, with specific reference to local 

maternity services; and the potential for non-delivery of our financial duties.  

Workforce capacity issues across general practice and other areas of the system 

have also been under review, which included the potential impacts of industrial 

action on services.  At the time of finalising this report, we have also identified a risk 

in relation to the publication of the outcome report of the Nottinghamshire County 

Council Joint Local Area Ofsted and Care Quality Commission Inspection for 

Special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).    

For more information on these risks and how we manage risk within the ICB, see the 

Governance statement contained within this annual report. 
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Performance Analysis 

This section of the report describes our performance measures in more detail and 

illustrates the level of delivery achieved during the reporting period.  It also explains 

how the ICB has discharged its key statutory duties. 

Monitoring Performance 

We are required to report on key national health targets and performance standards, 

many of which are drawn from the NHS Constitution or are derived from national 

priorities. As an ICB we are also responsible for overseeing the performance of the 

NHS providers within Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. As the NHS has continued 

to recover from the impact of the pandemic, additional metrics to focus upon 

recovery of services have been introduced by NHS England, while some of the 

established requirements have continued to be paused during this time. These are 

expected to be re-established during 2023/24.   

During 2022/23, a key priority has been to recover elective care services which were 

paused during the initial phase of Covid during 2020/21, and for which a return to 

pre-Covid levels has proved difficult, with the impacts of Covid still being presented 

through increased staff absences and increased vacancies, increased lengths of 

stay for patients for whom recovery is taking longer than pre-Covid, difficulties with 

being able to move patients out of hospital following their episode of acute care and 

a particularly challenging winter with the resurgence of peak flu levels and increases 

in Covid cases. In addition, the recent industrial action has also had an impact on the 

ability to flow patients through the urgent and planned care pathways, as well as 

mental health services. 

Whilst performance requirements and required activity levels are included within 

service contracts held by the ICB with local health organisations providing NHS 

services, it is recognised locally that we can only make the progress necessary by 

working together to tackle the complex system issues. To respond collectively as a 

local health system to the ongoing challenges from the post-pandemic impacts, 

staffing levels and urgent care pressures, several wider system forums have been 

established to deliver the progress required and to have oversight of the 

achievement of national and jointly agreed local and NHS England measures. This 

approach has enabled focused problem-solving system discussions to ensure 

services improve and perform well and that organisations provide cross 

organisational support to each other to meet the health needs of our patients and 

people.  

The responsibility for performance management ultimately sits with the Board; 

however, this duty has been delegated to our Quality and People Committee, and 

Finance and Performance Committee to ensure consistent scrutiny and challenge, 

with any issues escalated to the Board as necessary.   
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Areas that are under performing receive additional focus by the Quality and People, 

or Finance and Performance Committees, which includes reviewing the underlying 

causal factors and remedial actions in place, the potential impact of 

underperformance on the quality of services and delivery of recovery plans through 

system collaboration.   

The Integrated Performance Reports to our Board set out the ICB’s performance 

against all required standards and are available on our website at 

www.notts.icb.nhs.uk. The Integrated Performance Report focuses on the five areas 

of performance across the ICB, which are quality, finance, people, service delivery 

and health inequalities. This supports the emphasis of interdependency between all 

the component parts of the system, for the system to perform well and deliver quality 

services for our patients. 

NHS England has a statutory duty to undertake performance assessments of ICBs in 

respect of each financial year and to publish a summary of these assessments. In 

undertaking this assessment, NHS England will consider how successfully the ICB 

has: led the NHS within its ICS; contributed to each of the four aims of the ICS; 

performed its statutory functions; and delivered on any guidance set out for it by 

NHS England or the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care regarding its 

functions. The outcome of these assessments will be published in NHS England’s 

Annual Report 2022/23, which will be available on its website at 

www.england.nhs.uk. 

 

Urgent and Emergency Care  

Historically, the most challenging performance targets for the system have been the 

NHS Constitution targets for urgent and emergency care. The pressures across 

urgent and emergency care have continued, with high levels of demand, peak flu 

season, continued impacts from covid and difficulties in discharging patients from 

their acute episode of care leading to bed pressures through the hospital and longer 

waits in emergency departments and ambulances.  

Most residents use the Accident and Emergency Department at Nottingham 

University Hospitals NHS Trust (NUH) or Sherwood Forest Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust (SFH) when they need to access urgent and emergency care. 

However, some of these services are also delivered at the Urgent Care Centre within 

Nottingham City and at Newark Hospital, and residents in the north of the ICB are 

more likely to use Doncaster and Bassetlaw services at Worksop.  

The national standard requires that 95% of attending patients have a maximum 4-

hour wait in the Accident and Emergency Department from arrival to admission, 

transfer or discharge; however, this has been paused since 2021/22 due to the 

impacts from Covid and the additional infection prevention control measures required 

to be put in place. NUH was also part of national trials being conducted pre-
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pandemic and so have not been reporting against the 4-hour target in recent years. 

This waiting time standard will be reintroduced for all providers in 2023/24. 

The focus for the period of the pandemic has been on minimising the number of 

patients waiting over 12 hours following a decision to admit into the hospital setting, 

as well as aiming to receive patients into the hospital from ambulances as quickly as 

possible, to support ambulances being available for other patients. There have been 

several instances where patients have been waiting longer for services than is 

considered acceptable. The system undertakes a full incident review in each case to 

assess for any potential harm and works collectively to address these delays as a 

whole urgent care pathway to ensure patients reach the right services at the right 

time wherever possible. 

Considerable work has been undertaken across the system to focus on improving 

discharges. A new service model with additional resource was agreed during 

2022/23 across acute, community and local authority services, to increase the 

number of supported discharges. This commenced in November 2022 to provide 

additional support moving into the winter period. This has had some success in 

increasing discharge numbers, however there is work to be undertaken to improve 

this further by embedding good practice and working within a Community Discharge 

Hub model. 

The ICS Urgent and Emergency Care Board covers both Nottinghamshire providers, 

and includes Doncaster and Bassetlaw Hospitals as well, to ensure a collaborative 

system forum. This Board has responsibility for oversight of the urgent and 

emergency care pathway, with a clear aim of improving performance against the 

national Accident and Emergency waiting time standard, as well as being responsive 

to the changing pressures upon the system. The Board has been established in line 

with national guidance and its membership includes senior leaders from across the 

health and social care community. The Board is currently chaired by the ICB’s Chief 

Executive.  

East Midlands Ambulance Services NHS Trust (EMAS) provides all ambulance 

services within Nottingham and Nottinghamshire and has been significantly impacted 

by the scale of demand for services since the pandemic. The data reporting enables 

focus on how the service has responded to different levels of need: Category 1 calls 

are those for people with life-threatening illnesses or injuries; category 2 relates to 

emergency calls; category 3 relates to urgent calls; and category 4 relates to less 

urgent calls.  

Below is a table summarising performance in these areas for 2022/23 based on the 

latest information, indicating where the plan or target has been achieved or not.  The 

table shows movement in position since the inception of the ICB on 1 July 2022, as it 

was handed over from the previous CCG organisations at the end of June. Where 

relevant, recovery actions are in place, which are being continually reviewed and 

updated to improve performance. 
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Financial Years 2021/22  2022/23 

Mental Health Spend as a proportion of ICB 
Programme Allocation 

8.81% 8.98% 

 

 

Our Statutory Duties  

The responsibility for discharging our key statutory duties rests with the Board and, 

as such, we have established a robust reporting framework, which ensures that the 

appropriate assurances on the delivery of key duties are received in a timely 

manner. Further assurance is provided through our Board Assurance Framework, 

which identifies high-level risks with the potential to impact on the delivery of 

strategic objectives and statutory duties. It also details the controls and actions in 

place to mitigate such risks.   

The following sections focus specifically on how we are meeting some of these 

duties. 

 

Quality Improvement 

Section 14Z34 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) requires ICBs 

to exercise their functions with a view to securing continuous improvement in the 

quality of services provided to individuals for, or in connection with, the prevention, 

diagnosis or treatment of illness. The ICB places quality at the heart of its functions, 

and organisations that we commission services from must meet essential standards 

of quality and safety as defined by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 

Continuous quality improvement is promoted and encouraged through a range of 

mechanisms, which includes the completion of equality and quality impact 

assessments as an essential requirement of the ICB’s decision-making processes. 

We also have robust mechanisms in place to monitor quality standards, including the 

monitoring of information and data in relation to serious incidents, patient and staff 

feedback, infection prevention and control, safeguarding processes and clinical 

outcomes. These mechanisms are strengthened further by wider intelligence 

gathering through established system relationships. This includes regular attendance 

at the internal quality oversight and assurance meetings of system partners to be 

able to understand internal conversations and assurance processes. This approach 

utilises both qualitative and quantitative intelligence which supports quality oversight, 

assurance and planning, as well as highlighting early any emerging concerns that 

may be identified on either a theme, partner or system basis.  

Our System Quality Strategy 2022/23 reflects the shared quality principles and 

values across our ICS and maintains our shared commitment to continually 

improving the quality of our services, in a way that makes a real difference to our 

local population. The ICB continues to work with system partners to develop shared 

insights and embed the National Quality Board’s national guidance. Our priority is to 
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with people and communities contains two key elements – that of Citizen Intelligence 

and for Co-production. Our strategy and further information can be found on our 

website at www.notts.icb.nhs.uk 

We have formed the ICB’s Citizen Intelligence Advisory Group, which brings together 

Healthwatch Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, representatives from our four Places, 

local authorities and the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise sector; to 

ensure citizen intelligence and insight informs the commissioning of health and care 

services. 

An ICS Engagement Practitioners Forum has been established with 35 members 

from across various organisations in operating in the health and care space across 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire.  Representatives of the forum include Healthwatch 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, NHS Trusts, Local Authorities, universities, 

Community and Voluntary sector and Place Based Partnerships. This forum provides 

a platform for all system partners working with people and communities to work 

collaboratively and avoid duplication, share resources, knowledge and expertise and 

maximise existing knowledge and insights.   

The Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Alliance has quickly become a 

powerful body representing various organisations across Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire.  All representatives have an equal voice, and the Alliance is a 

formal part of our ICS, enabling liaison with commissioners and other stakeholders 

and encouraging partnership working. with the aim of putting the voice of people and 

communities at the heart of what we do.  

The ICB’s Engagement Team continue to work closely with key stakeholders such 

as Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service, Healthwatch Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire, Nottingham Trent University, University of Nottingham Business 

School, CityCare, NUH and other Place representatives to embed our Citizens 

Panel, a consultative body of Nottingham City residents. 

The development of Nottingham and Nottinghamshire’s Integrated Care Strategy has 

been one of the earliest testing grounds for our refreshed and enhanced approach to 

working with people and communities. Using a two-step approach, first a desktop 

research exercise was undertaken to understand the needs of our citizens and how 

these can be met, people and communities who are not to understand who we need 

to involve, and gaps in our knowledge that could form the basis of our involvement 

work.  

The second stage involved a number of listening activities to test the findings from 

the desk research, explore gaps in our knowledge, test the emerging content of the 

Integrated Care Strategy and test the Vision and purpose for our ICS. A key principle 

of these activities was to allow citizens the opportunities to shape and inform the 

strategy and that we did not ask for citizen intelligence that we already have.  

The ICS Assembly was a core mechanism for involving people and communities in 

the development of the Integrated Care Strategy, which was attended by 161 
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populations of Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire County and specifically to 

reduce health inequalities experienced by citizens. These Boards bring partners 

together to address city and county-wide issues where collaborative approaches 

between partners are essential. In addition to the ICB and City and County Councils, 

the Boards’ memberships include a range of local partners, including 

Nottinghamshire Police, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service, Healthwatch 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, NHS England and NHS Improvement, local NHS 

Trusts and representatives from the voluntary sector. 

The Health and Wellbeing Boards are statutorily responsible for producing joint 

strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) for their local populations. The JSNAs are the 

means by which a range of information (including local and national data) is utilised 

to identify the current health and wellbeing needs of local communities and to 

highlight health inequalities. This information is then used to inform the development 

of the city and county health and wellbeing strategies to address these specific 

factors. 

The joint health and wellbeing strategies for both Nottingham City and 

Nottinghamshire set out the ambitions and priority areas for the next several years. 

and can be found on the councils’ websites, at www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk and 

www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk.  

Through well-established system working arrangements, the Chairs of the Health 

and Wellbeing Boards have been actively engaged in relation to the ICB’s 

contribution to the joint local health and wellbeing strategies. 

   

Environmental Matters 

Sustainable development is recognised at a national level as an integral part of 

healthcare; climate change is not only a major threat to our planet, but to our health 

as well.  The ICB is committed to contributing to the NHS England aim for the NHS 

to be the world’s first ‘net zero’ national health service and in doing all we can to 

reduce our impact on the environment.  This involves taking action around our NHS 

Carbon Footprint (emissions we control directly) and our NHS Carbon Footprint Plus 

(emissions we can influence). 

Our strategy for tackling climate change is set out in our ICS Green Plan. This plan 

documents how we will work with our system partners to achieve carbon net zero on 

or before 2040 and deliver against the NHS target of 80% carbon net zero by 2028.  

It describes the specific actions and priority interventions we need to take to achieve 

carbon net zero and lay the foundation to deliver carbon emission reductions through 

the delivery of sustainable health and care services.  This work has involved 

extensive collaboration across all of our system partners; building on individual 

commitments already made to support this agenda to define the necessary actions 

to help meet the carbon emission reductions as defined by the NHS Carbon 



 

Page | 30  
 

Footprint Plus for our local area. The Plan is lead executively by the ICB’s Director of 

Finance, with a programme management approach in place to support delivery. 

In January 2022, the national NHS England Green Programme created a dashboard 

of 15 key areas that will help move organisations on to carbon net zero.  These 

areas include purchasing 100% of electricity from renewable sources, having a long-

term climate change adaptation plan and travel-related targets such as working more 

closely with local transport partners.  A system-wide action plan has been developed 

to ensure the achievement of all targets. 

As the NHS continues its journey to becoming Net Zero by 2045, it’s important to 

recognise that we all as individuals and as teams have a vital role to play in reaching 

our targets.  To help staff in the ICB to understand how we build a Net Zero NHS, we 

promote utilising national training available on building a Net Zero NHS.  We are also 

establishing a Green Champions Network, which our staff have been invited to 

participate in. 

With regard to our estates and facilities, the former CCG organisations of the ICB 

were able to advance plans to rationalise its physical footprint as a result of the 

Covid pandemic; which saw a move to hybrid working and the availability of 

premises lease contract break clauses, which enabled us to reduce the properties 

our staff occupied.  The carbon benefits of this are assumed to be reductions in 

energy usage, water usage, business travel and paper consumption. We have paper 

recycling bins across all of our sites and only purchase 100% recycled paper. 

Presently, our Headquarters are leased from Nottinghamshire County Council.  The 

ICB is charged a flat rate for its occupancy, with no breakdown of use or costs for 

energy, water and waste, which presents significant obstacles when evaluating our 

carbon emissions.  Work is planned with the Council to understand if and how we 

can appropriately apportion carbon emissions from the building in order to evaluate 

our performance.          

The ICB promotes active travel to its staff and offers a number of staff discounts for 

public transport.  We are able to access the relevant facilities (such as secure cycle 

storage) at most of our sites. We also offer a salary sacrifice scheme for Ultra Low 

Emissions Vehicles and Electric Vehicles.  

The ICB’s Procurement Team is working with strategic procurement colleagues from 

our partner organisations to develop a joint ‘net zero strategy’ for the goods and 

services we buy across our system.   This will be aligned to the national net zero 

supplier roadmap.  Work is also underway to agree a joint procurement social value 

strategy for the system by March 2024; with the aim of gaining efficiencies from our 

combined purchasing power and supporting sustainability and social value in our 

communities.  In addition, we are currently working with partners to implement new 

software that will enable us to identify opportunities to join up procurement activity, 

which will support the delivery of reduced carbon emissions.  
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Promoting Innovation 

ICBs are statutorily required to promote innovation in the provision of health 

services in the exercise of its functions; an example of which can be demonstrated 

by our approach to ensuring the innovative use of technology as part of our system-

wide digital strategy. Our system is well placed to be a national exemplar for digital 

and intelligence; with a well-established digital health and care community, 

supported by a robust infrastructure guided by a system-wide digital charter that sets 

out the principles and responsibilities of how we work together. 

Nationally, the over-arching digital aspiration is set out within the ‘What Good Looks 

Like’ (WGLL) Framework. This framework draws on local learning; building on 

established good practice and providing clear guidance on the transformation of 

digital services to improve outcomes, experience and safety of our citizens.   

We are currently in the process of working with our system partners and 

stakeholders to refresh our ICS Data, Analytics, Information and Technology (DAIT) 

Strategy in line with the Framework; ensuring alignment to our key priorities which 

include public facing digital services (for example, providing individuals with access 

to their digital health and care record), supporting provider digitalisation (including 

utilising state of the art automation technologies to reduce burdensome processes) 

and supporting intelligent decision-making (using data to better understand the 

health and care needs of our population). 

An ICS Digital Executive Group has been established comprising of relevant leads 

for our system partners to ensure operational ownership of the Strategy’s planning 

and delivery.  This group is supported by a number of fora that provide digital, clinical 

and operational input into the digital agenda.  Assurance around delivery of the 

strategy and in meeting the ICB’s specific digital responsibilities sits with our Finance 

and Performance Committee. 

Innovation can also be demonstrated through our approach to research, which is 

detailed further in the following section. 

 

Promoting Research 

ICBs must in the exercise of their functions, facilitate or otherwise promote research 

on matters relevant to the health service and the use in the health service of 

evidence obtained from research. We have put in place infrastructure and a 

programme of activities to meet these statutory duties going forwards.   

The ICB’s Executive Lead for Research is Dr Dave Briggs, Medical Director. We 

have a Research Strategy Group to oversee arrangements for the strategic 

development of research activity, capacity and culture within the ICB, Primary Care 

Networks (PCN) and GP practices. The Chair is the Research Lead at the University 

of Nottingham Health Service and the Primary Care National Specialty Lead for the 

National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Clinical Research Network 
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(CRN). The group has representatives from ICB teams, research active GP practices 

and other partner organisations including public health, academic primary care and 

the local NHS knowledge and library service.  

We facilitate and promote primary care research capacity, capability and culture 

building through utilisation of our NIHR Research Capability Funding. This year we 

funded two Primary Care Research Champions (a GP and Practice Manager) 

working across the ICB area and a Primary Care Research Lead for Mid 

Nottinghamshire where historically there have been fewer research opportunities for 

people. These research leaders have engaged with primary care, PCNs and wider 

stakeholders to promote, advise, support and provide mentorship to integrate 

primary care research into everyday practice. They are focusing on equity of access 

to research opportunities for people and the workforce, promoting and supporting 

research being delivered where population need is greatest and increasing the 

diversity of people participating in research studies.  

To support the ICB’s statutory duty to facilitate or otherwise promote the use in the 

health service of evidence obtained from research, we commission an NHS 

Knowledge and Library Service provided by Sherwood Forest Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust. The Knowledge and Library Team conduct evidence searches 

and summaries and provide evidence update bulletins to support evidence informed 

decision making for strategic planning and transformation programmes.   

In addition, the ICB is leading on system working through an Integrated Care System 

(ICS) Research Partners Group which has been convened and is chaired by the 

ICB’s Head of Research and Evidence. This brings together senior representatives 

from the NHS providers, ICB, the two Local Authorities, the two Universities and the 

NIHR CRN East Midlands. The group was established in 2021/22 with the purpose 

of developing a system wide collaborative approach to health and care research 

across the ICS. Key aims of the group are to increase participation in research at the 

organisation, place and population level, enable equity of access to research 

opportunities and generate impact in health and care pathways.  

In 2022/23 the group mapped health and care research activity, expertise, interests, 

NIHR and other research infrastructure in the constituent organisations. This has 

enabled the ICS to understand the breadth and depth of its research capabilities, 

strengths, expertise, areas of synergy and opportunities for future research 

collaborations that align to its needs, priorities and strategy. It has also led to agreed 

priorities for future development and collaboration, recognising that organisations are 

at different stages of research development. The ICS Research Partners Group and 

mapping exercise are cited as a best practice case study in the NHS England 

guidance for Integrated Care Systems on Maximising the Benefits of Research 

published in March 2023. A priority for 2023/24 is the development of an ICS 

Research Strategy.  

In the context of integration with system partners, plus taking a targeted approach to 

health inequalities, during 2022/23 the ICB continued to take a joint approach to 
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commissioning research.  We jointly funded with partners, an exploratory research 

study relating to the experience of Severe and Multiple Disadvantage (SMD) in 

ethnically diverse communities in Nottingham City. Therefore, using the benefits of 

research to target a priority relevant to Core20+5 and evidence generation to inform 

a greater understanding of health inequalities for this important inclusion health 

group. The research study is being conducted by a partnership between the 

University of Nottingham and Al-Hurraya, a Nottingham based peer led charity who 

work with and provide culturally sensitive interventions to ethnically diverse people 

experiencing SMD. The research study will report in the Autumn of 2023 and will 

inform the Changing Futures Programme in Nottingham City and strategic planning 

for personalised and integrated models of care for this population.   

 

Having regard to the wider effects of decisions 

The Health and Care Act 2022 introduced a new duty for ICBs, along with other NHS 

organisations, to have regard to the effects of their decisions on the ‘Triple Aim’ of: 

the health and wellbeing of the people of England (including inequalities in that 

health and wellbeing); the quality of services provided or arranged by NHS 

organisations (including inequalities in benefits from those services); and the efficient 

and sustainable use of NHS resources.  

We recognise that only through effective co-ordination and collaboration with our 

system partners, drawing on their knowledge, experience and expertise, can we 

make the right decisions to ensure the delivery of integrated, person-centred care. 

Across our ICS, we are aligned around a common set of aims and guiding principles, 

which are described within our Integrated Care Strategy. The ICB and our NHS Trust 

and NHS Foundation Trust partners are developing a Joint Forward Plan that will 

describe how our local NHS organisations will implement the NHS Mandate, tackle 

key issues and contribute to the delivery of the Integrated Care Strategy. This joint 

approach to planning ensures that we consider the wider effects of our decisions by 

default. 

The ICB has developed a decision-making framework that is applied to all service 

change and resource allocation proposals, which ensures that the ‘Triple Aim’ is 

embedded in decision-making and evaluation processes. Our Strategic Planning and 

Integration Committee has a key role in exercising the ICB’s commissioning 

functions and ensures the robustness of decision-making in line with relevant 

statutory duties and the aims of the ICS. 

More information about our approach to tackling inequalities can be found in the 

Reducing health inequalities section of this Annual Report. 

 

Promoting Patient Involvement  
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ICBs must promote the involvement of patients, and their carers and representatives 

(if any), in decisions that relate to the prevention or diagnosis of illness in the 

patients or their care or treatment.  We recognise that a ‘one-size-fits-all’ health and 

care system simply cannot meet the increasing complexity of people’s needs and 

that through personalised care, people can have more control and choice when it 

comes to the way their physical and mental health care is planned and delivered; 

and be actively involved in the decision-making process by speaking up on things 

that matter and are most important to them.   

In line with the national Comprehensive Model of Personalised Care, we have 

developed a collaborative approach with our system partners to establish a whole-

population approach to supporting people of all ages and their carers to manage 

their physical and mental health and wellbeing, build community resilience, and 

make informed decisions and choices when their health changes.  We have been 

recognised nationally as a leader in shared decision-making are committed to 

ensuring the embedment of co-production within the ICB’s activities; ensuring that 

people with lived experience are involved in the design and commissioning of 

services.   

We have established an ICS Personalised Care Strategic Oversight Group, which 

provides operational ownership across system partners for the personalised care 

agenda and locally, assurance on the delivery of the ICB’s specific duties are the 

responsibility of our Quality and People Committee. 

More information on personalised care can be found on in the Personalised Care 

section of our website at www.notts.icb.uk. 

 

Ensuring Patient Choice 

Patients have a legal right of choice and ICBs are required to act with a view to 

enabling patient choices with respect to aspects of health services provided to them.  

This duty is implicit within our established arrangements.  We commission health 

care services (in line with our commissioning responsibilities, as described in the 

Performance Summary section of this annual report) from a range of NHS and 

independent sector providers; ensuring that these are made known to patients at the 

point of referral via the contracts we hold with our primary care providers.  More 

recently, we have established a process for qualifying providers to ensure that we do 

not restrict providers from inclusion. 

In practice, this means that patients requiring planned care can consider factors such 

as where waiting times are the shortest (including those outside of our area where 

possible) or a personal preference when considering their treatment. Patients are 

able to make a choice of mental health provider and team including where they 

require integrated packages of care involving social care. Exclusions do apply, for 

example when accessing urgent or emergency (crisis) care or inpatient care whilst 

detained under the Mental Health Act 1983. In these services, the ICB focuses on 
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improving outcomes for people experiencing mental health crisis, to ensure they can 

access the support they need, when they need it. 

Options can be discussed with GPs in the first instance to ensure that the patient’s 

choice is clinically appropriate, and that care can continue to be delivered in an 

integrated way to ensure that their needs continue to be met.  

Going into 2023/24, NHS England has set out a number of actions and activities 

required of ICBs and primary care and secondary care organisations to enable 

greater patient choice.  For ICBs, this includes ensuring a system level plan is in 

place to raise the profile of patient choice.  Further information on this can be found 

at www.england.nhs.uk . 

Obtaining Appropriate Advice 

All ICBs have a statutory duty to obtain appropriate advice from people who, 

collectively, have a broad range of professional expertise in relation to the 

prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness, and the protection or improvement of 

public health. 

We recognise that this duty enables us to discharge our functions effectively and we 

place great importance on clinical and care professional leadership and 

engagement. 

We have a dedicated clinical leadership team within the ICB; as such, we employ a 

number of healthcare professionals who as part of their roles provide expert advice 

to support the ICB’s decision-making arrangements. These include our Medical 

Director and Director of Nursing, five Deputy Medical Directors, two Deputy Directors 

of Nursing and a Chief Pharmacist, along with their supporting teams, who 

collectively have expertise in primary care, proactive care, mental health, learning 

disabilities and autism, planned care, urgent and emergency care, children and 

young people’s services, quality and clinical safety, use of medicines, population 

health management and research. These clinical leaders also support the 

embedding of the wider system clinical partnership into the ICB and ICP 

arrangements. 

We have established an ICS Clinical and Care Professional Leadership Group, 

comprised of senior clinical and care giving leaders from across all system partners 

and our four place-based partnerships. This Group is responsible for the 

development of clinical policy and ensuring that clinical transformation plans lead to 

desired outcomes. The Group is supported by a broader assembly of clinical and 

care professionals who lead on pathway and clinical and care model development. 

This work directly informs the ICB’s decision-making arrangements. 

The Board has also ensured that it has the right skills, knowledge and experience to 

operate effectively, which includes securing the expertise of our local Directors of 

Public Health at Board meetings. The Board has also ensured that the memberships 
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focusing on schools and colleges, young people and growing the future talent 

pipeline to ensure our teams reflect the diversity of our local population.  

We have established an ICS People and Culture Group, which is comprised of 

relevant colleagues from all system partners and has operational ownership of 

planning and delivery. Our Quality and People Committee ensures that the ICB is 

developing robust arrangements with partners to support the ‘one workforce’ 

approach by leading system development and takes an assurance role regarding 

implementation of the ICS People and Culture Plan. 

Skills, knowledge and experience of members 

The ICB is required to keep under review the collective skills, knowledge and 

experience that it considers necessary for its Board members to have, to enable the 

Board to effectively carry out its functions. 

When establishing the Board’s membership, consideration was given to the fact it is 

a unitary Board, collectively and corporately accountable for the performance of the 

organisation and the delivery of its functions and duties; making decisions as a 

single group. In line with this, we have sought to strike the right balance in 

membership, ensuring it is of an appropriate size to enable effective decision-

making, whilst also providing for the right balance of skills, knowledge and 

experience that is appropriate for the organisation. 

The Board’s membership is comprised of the ICB’s Chair and Chief Executive, four 

Non-Executive Directors, the ICB’s Director of Finance, Director of Nursing, Medical 

Director and Director of Integration, and five Partner Members nominated by our 

system partner organisations.  

An exercise has been completed to explicitly allocate executive accountability for 

each of the ICB’s functions and duties. The Executive Directors’ portfolios are 

summarised in the About us section of this Annual Report and described in more 

detail within the ICB’s Governance Handbook which can be found at www.nnicb. 

The Partner Members bring knowledge and a perspective from their relevant sectors 

to the work of the Board; these cover primary and community care services, hospital, 

urgent and emergency care services, services relating to the prevention, diagnosis 

and treatment of mental illness, and the social care needs and health and wellbeing 

characteristics of people and communities living across Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire. 

The non-executive members of the Board are all independent of system partners, 

ensuring they are able to provide an independent view on the running of the 

organisation. Collectively, they bring the right skills, knowledge and experience to 

provide purposeful, constructive scrutiny and challenge to Board discussions. Where 

relevant, this includes holding the specific qualifications required for their roles (for 

example, our Audit and Risk Committee Chair is a qualified accountant). 
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Working Group, LRF Risk Group and Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP). 

The LHRP is the strategic forum for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire healthcare 

organisations to facilitate preparedness and planning for health emergencies at a 

suitable system and LRF level.   

In line with the NHS EPRR Framework, the ICB has the appropriate structures in 

place in relation to organisational incidents.  This includes alert systems and 

ensuring a tactical and organisational response and system wide response.  We 

operate a two tier on-call system which provides 24/7 response and local health 

leadership to emergencies and issues affecting Nottingham and Nottinghamshire’s 

health system.  

During the year, the ICB has led the response on a number of challenging incidents; 

including industrial action, system pressures and a Met Office Red Alert for Extreme 

Heat. The ICB has also managed the response to Monkey Pox and Avian Flu 

outbreaks. 

We complete an annual EPRR self-assessment, which provides assurance that NHS 

organisations are working to meet the NHS EPRR Core Standards. For 2022/23, the 

ICB was assessed as partially compliant with the Core Standards and actions were 

agreed with NHS England to address the areas requiring improvement.  An internal 

audit review undertaken of the ICB’s EPRR arrangements (March 2023) provided 

significant assurance that the actions were being progressed towards full 

compliance. 
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Personal Data Related Incidents 

We are committed to reporting, managing and investigating all information 

governance incidents and near-misses. We actively encourage staff to report all 

incidents and near misses to ensure that learning can be collated and disseminated 

within the organisation.  

There has been one serious incident that required external reporting during the 

reporting period, as prescribed by national guidance: Guide to the Notification of 

Data Security and Protection Incidents. This was due to two emails being sent with 

the recipients’ personal email addresses included in the ‘To’ function, rather than the 

‘BCC’ (blind carbon copy) function. The email topic implied recipients’ general 

involvement with a matter of a sensitive nature. No further action was taken by the 

Information Commissioner’s Office who was satisfied with the ICB’s initial incident 

response and follow up actions. This included sending the recipients an explanation 

and apology as soon as the error had been noted. 

There were eighteen personal data related incidents and a further three near misses 

during the reporting period; however, these were not rated as serious in nature and 

were managed in line with the ICB’s incident reporting and management procedures. 

 

Complaints 

As an organisation we welcome complaints as a valuable source of learning and 

recognise that lessons learnt as a result of complaint investigations give us an 

opportunity to maximise service development, make changes where required to 

systems and processes, and improve future experiences for everybody. The 

complaints we receive are about the services we commission, but sometimes the 

ICB leads on a complaint investigation because the complaint involves a number of 

different local health providers. All complaints are handled in line with the statutory 

NHS Complaint Handling Guidelines.   

Between 1 July 2022 and 31 March 2023, we received 266 complaints and three 

Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) cases. As at the time of 

signing this report, one PHSO complaint has been confirmed as not being upheld, 

one was not investigated by the PHSO as no complaint was made to the ICB and we 

are awaiting further information on the remaining case.  

 

Modern Slavery Act 

The ICB fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 

human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the period 

ending 31 March 2023 is published on our website at www.notts.icb.nhs.uk.  
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Governance Statement 

Introduction and context 

NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (“the ICB”) is a body 

corporate established by NHS England on 1 July 2022 under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Care Act 2022). 

The ICB’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 

(as amended). The ICB’s general function is arranging the provision of services for 

persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The ICB is required to 

arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers 

necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its population. The ICB 

discharges these responsibilities by developing strategies and plans to meet the 

health needs of its population and by commissioning planned hospital and 

rehabilitation care, maternity services, urgent and emergency care, community 

services, and mental health and learning disability and autism services, while 

managing the NHS budget. The ICB also has full delegated responsibility from NHS 

England for commissioning primary medical services for the people of Nottingham 

and Nottinghamshire.  

Between 1 July 2022 and 31 March 2023, the ICB was not subject to any directions 

from NHS England issued under section 14Z61 of the of the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended). 

The Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care System (“the ICS” or “the 

system”) is a partnership of organisations that come together to plan and deliver 

joined up health and care services, and to improve the lives of people who live and 

work in the area. ICS partner organisations include the ICB, Nottingham University 

Hospitals NHS Trust, Sherwood Forest Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 

Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, East Midlands Ambulance 

Services NHS Trust, Doncaster and Bassetlaw Teaching Hospitals NHS foundation 

Trust, Nottingham CityCare Partnership Community Interest Company, 

Nottinghamshire County Council and Nottingham City Council. Also involved in the 

ICS are District and Borough Councils, Healthwatch Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire, general practices, and voluntary, community and social enterprise 

organisations. More information on the structure of the ICS can be found in the 

About us section of this annual report. 

 

Scope of Responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of the ICB’s policies, aims and 

objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 

Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National 
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appointed two of its Non-Executive Directors in the roles of Conflicts of Interest 

Guardian and Non-Executive Lead for Freedom to Speak Up. 

All the ICB’s governing documents and policies are available in the ‘About us’ 

section of our website at www.notts.icb.nhs.uk.  

 

The Board 

The main function of the ICB’s Board is to ensure that the organisation has made 

appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 

efficiently and economically, and complies with such generally accepted principles of 

good governance as are relevant to it. The Board is responsible for setting the ICB’s 

vision, values and strategic objectives, and formulating strategies, plans and policies, 

then holding the organisation to account for the delivery of these; by being 

accountable for ensuring the organisation operates with openness, transparency and 

candour and by seeking assurance that systems of control are robust and reliable 

and that statutory duties are being met. The Board is also responsible for shaping a 

healthy culture for the organisation and the wider system through its interaction with 

system partners. 

As part of the ICB’s commitment to openness and accountability, meetings of the 

Board are open to members of the public to attend and observe. Members of the 

public may also ask questions of the Board in relation to its agenda items by 

submitting these in advance of each meeting. The Chair will also accept questions 

on the day of meetings if sufficient time is available and they are pertinent to items 

on the agenda.  

In accordance with good governance practice, the Board is supported by an annual 

cycle of business that sets out a coherent overall programme for meetings. The 

Board’s forward plan is a key mechanism by which appropriately timed governance 

oversight, scrutiny and transparency can be maintained in a way that does not place 

an onerous burden on those in executive roles or create unnecessary or 

bureaucratic governance processes.  

The Board’s membership is comprised of the ICB’s Chair and Chief Executive, four 

Non-Executive Directors, the ICB’s Director of Finance, Director of Nursing, Medical 

Director and Director of Integration, and five partner members nominated by our 

system partner organisations to the Board. The Partner Members bring knowledge 

and a perspective from their relevant sectors to the work of the Board; these cover 

mental health, hospital, urgent and emergency care services, primary and 

community care, and social care. The Board also co-opts attendees with speaking 

rights to attend meetings as required to advise members when discharging their 

responsibilities; this includes subject matter experts on public health and human 

resources. 

The members of the Board are named within the Members Report section of this 

annual report.  
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values of the organisation. Other sessions focussed on new ways of working 

between system partners, exploring the ICB’s risk appetite and looking in more detail 

at evolving areas of work, such as the development of the ICB’s people and culture 

function.  

 

Committees and Sub-Committees of the Board  

The ICB Board has established several committees and sub-committees to assist it 

with the discharge of its functions. Some committees are statutory requirements, 

whilst others are established ‘by design’ taking into account national guidance and 

best practice. Together, they support the delivery of the ICB’s statutory duties and 

enable effective oversight, scrutiny and decision-making arrangements.  

The Board has approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for all its 

committees and sub-committees. All committees routinely report to the Board 

through the submission of highlight reports and other appropriate updates, as 

necessary. Sub-committees report directly into their respective ‘parent’ committee, 

which will then forward on any matters requiring the Board’s attention. 

As newly established forums, all committees held development sessions early in the 

year and before proceeding to full business meetings. This provided the time and 

space for members to fully explore the responsibilities and objectives of their 

respective committees and to consider ways in which they could work best going 

forward.  

Memberships of committees and sub-committees consist of non-executive director 

members of the Board, executive directors and other senior leaders and clinical 

members (as appropriate to the remit of the committee). For our key assurance 

committees (the Quality and People Committee and the Finance and Performance 

Committee) we have also appointed non-executive directors from our partner NHS 

Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts. Whilst these roles bring the knowledge and 

perspective of providers within our system, enriching the committees’ discussions 

and adding further scrutiny to the ICB’s activities; they are full committee members 

and not in attendance to represent their respective organisations. 

A governance ‘stock-take’ exercise was undertaken one hundred days post-

establishment of the ICB, which confirmed that the ICB’s structures were fit for 

purpose and arrangements were working well in practice. Towards the end of the 

reporting period, a review of committee effectiveness was completed; an annual 

requirement for all committees and sub-committees stipulated within their terms of 

reference. This work considered how committees and sub-committees have 

operated since their establishment and whether any actions are needed to further 

support them in discharging their delegated duties. In completing this work, it was 

recognised that 2022/23 has been an atypical year in which the Board and its 

committees are still maturing. Therefore a pragmatic approach has been taken, 

which has focussed on the fundamental elements of committee effectiveness; such 
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as planning and preparation for meetings, the quality of papers and presentations 

received and behaviours and etiquette. This review has also considered the annual 

work programmes of the committees and sub-committees; ensuring that the 

progress made by each to develop comprehensive reporting arrangements during 

the year can be built upon and enhanced going in to 2023/24. Following discussion 

and feedback on the outcome of the review with Committee Chairs and members, a 

full outcome report and action plan has been developed for presentation to the Audit 

and Risk Committee at its first scheduled meeting in 2023/24, with the Committee 

assuming responsibility for the oversight of actions until their completion. 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee exists to review the establishment and maintenance 

of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and internal 

control, across the whole of the organisation’s activities. It provides the Board with 

an independent and objective view of the ICB’s financial systems, financial 

information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the 

organisation, in so far as they relate to finance. The Committee scrutinises every 

instance of non-compliance with the ICB’s Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation 

and Delegation and Standing Financial Instructions and monitors compliance with 

the ICB’s Standards of Business Conduct Policy. The Committee also has delegated 

authority to approve the ICB’s Annual Report and Accounts. 

The Committee’s membership is comprised of three Non-Executive Directors of the 

Board; the Committee’s Chair having qualifications and expertise in finance and 

audit matters. Members are supported by the ICB’s internal auditors, external 

auditors and local counter fraud specialist. The Committee met four times during 

2022/23. All formal meetings were quorate in line with the Committee’s terms of 

reference and its members achieved an average of 92% attendance at meetings. 

The members of the Committee are named within the Members Report section of 

this annual report.  

Of note this year has been the Committee’s role in continuing to oversee the actions 

required following a comprehensive due diligence process undertaken by the two 

former CCG organisations. This process was necessary to ensure the safe transfer 

of staff and property to the ICB; to preserve corporate memory and to inform the new 

organisation of any liabilities (or potential liabilities) it would inherit following 

disestablishment of the CCGs. The Committee was presented with the outcome of 

this work at its inaugural meeting in September 2022, which included an update on 

the status of any residual issues and actions. A final update on this work was 

provided to the Committee in March, which assured members that any ongoing 

issues had been successfully transferred to the appropriate ICB committee or 

responsible person and had been clearly embedded within the ICB’s own oversight 

and management processes. 
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The organisation’s strategic risks are outlined within the Board Assurance 

Framework, which provides the Board with confidence that the ICB has identified its 

strategic risks and has robust systems, policies and processes in place that are 

effective and driving the delivery of its strategic objectives. All strategic risks are 

owned by an Executive Director of the ICB, and the Board receives bi-annual 

updates. 

Operational risks are current, ‘live’ risks that the organisation is facing; these are by-

products of day-to-day business delivery. They arise from definite events or 

circumstances and have the potential to impact negatively on either the 

organisation’s objectives or system priorities. Operational risks are captured within 

the ICB’s Operational Risk Register and are owned by members of the ICB’s Senior 

Leadership Team. 

Within our ICS, we have defined system risk management as the collective 

identification, assessment and mitigation of risks where improved outcomes can be 

achieved by system partners working together through shared accountability 

arrangements; we see it as a value-added activity that complements individual 

organisational arrangements. In line with the ICB’s role within the system, we have 

taken forward the co-ordination and facilitation of system risk management 

arrangements, and the ICB’s Operational Risk Register is now used to capture the 

system risks that require more than one system partner to manage or that are not 

unique to a single system partner.  

A separate fraud risk register is also maintained by the ICB and reported to the Audit 

and Risk Committee once a year, in line with the ICB’s annual fraud risk 

assessment. Mitigations identified in relation to the potential fraud risks largely relate 

to processes already in place as part of the ICB’s system of internal control.  

 

Capacity to Handle Risk  

The ICB ensures its ongoing capacity to handle risk in several ways. The Risk 

Management Policy is owned by the Board and its members provide leadership to 

the total risk management function. However, risk is the business of all staff, and 

managers are expected to lead by example by ensuring that risk management is 

acknowledged and embedded throughout the organisation and across the system. 

All members of the Executive and Senior Leadership Team are accountable for the 

effective management of risk within their areas of responsibility. This includes 

ensuring that appropriate controls are in place and that appropriate risk identification 

and mitigating actions are progressed and monitored.  

Operational Risk Reports are routinely reported to the each of the Board’s 

committees. Reports outline relevant operational risks that are in the remit of the 

respective committee, including any risks scored as being high or extreme, any new 

risks that have been identified, as well as any risks where the risk score has been 
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within the minutes. Where appropriate, action is taken in advance of the meetings 

(e.g. by excluding any individual with an identified conflict of interest from that 

section of the meeting and ensuring that they do not receive any related papers). 

 

Data quality 

The ICB recognises that good quality data is essential for the effective 

commissioning of services and underpins the delivery of high-quality patient care. 

Data quality is central to the organisation’s ongoing ability to meet its statutory, legal 

and financial responsibilities. 

The ICB has established a Data Quality Policy which sets out roles and 

responsibilities, along with the required approach to data quality within the 

organisation, including validation processes to ensure data is complete, accurate, 

relevant and timely. 

All committees and sub-committees of the Board are also responsible for assuring 

themselves of the quality of data informing their decisions, and this duty is built into 

their respective terms of reference. This includes review of the timeliness, accuracy, 

validity, reliability, relevance and completeness of data. 

No issues have been raised by the Board or its committees and sub-committees 

regarding the quality of data received during the reporting period. 

 

Information governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 

which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 

person-identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is 

supported by an information governance toolkit (the Data Security and Protection 

Toolkit) and the annual submission process provides assurances to the ICB, other 

organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, 

securely, efficiently and effectively. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 

systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. 

We have established an information governance management framework, which is 

underpinned by a comprehensive suite of information governance policies that 

outline the mechanisms in place to ensure that risks to confidentiality and data 

security are effectively managed and controlled. 

The roles of Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and Caldicott Guardian have 

been assigned to appropriate members of the organisation’s Executive Team. The 

ICB also has a designated Data Protection Officer (DPO) in line with the 

requirements of the UK General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Our Audit and 

Risk Committee is responsible for scrutinising the ICB’s compliance with legislative 
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that required action; which include addressing gaps in our PHB Policy and 

developing clear terms of reference for our Panel, supported by robust 

documentation processes.  All actions are now underway, with an expected 

completion date of 31 October 2023 (or sooner). 

 

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal 

control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 

work of the internal auditors, executive directors and senior managers within the ICB 

who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review has 

also been informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit 

letter and other reports.  

The Board Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness 

of controls that manage risks to the ICB achieving its strategic objectives have been 

reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review by the Board, the 

Audit and Risk Committee and other committees as necessary and plans to address 

any weaknesses and to ensure continuous improvement of the system are in place. 

Previous sections of this Governance Statement set out our approach to reviewing 

the ongoing effectiveness of the system of internal control, particularly in relation to 

the role of the Board and its committees. I have also been informed by the broad 

range of internal and external assurances received by the ICB during the year as set 

out within the Board Assurance Framework. 

 

Conclusion 

My review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control 

has confirmed that the ICB has a generally sound system of internal control that 

supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives, and that there have 

been no significant control issues during the period 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023. 
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The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in NHS Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire ICB in the reporting period 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023 was 

£195,000 to £200,000. 

The relationship to the remuneration of the organisation's workforce is disclosed in 

the below table. A comparator to the previous year is not available, as this is the 

ICB’s first year of operation. 

 25th percentile Median pay ratio 75th percentile pay ratio 

Total remuneration £34,943 £46,032 £57,061 

Salary component of total remuneration £34,943 £46,032 £57,061 

Pay ratio information 5.65 4.29 3.46 

 

During the reporting period, no employee received remuneration in excess of the 

highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £3,250 to £195,700. Total 

remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits-in-

kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension 

contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

 

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

For the purpose of this remuneration report, senior managers are defined as being 

‘those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 

controlling the major activities of the ICB’. This means those who influence the 

decisions of the organisation as a whole, rather than the decisions of individual 

directorates or departments. As such, where this report discusses ‘Senior 

Managers’, we are referring to the members of our Board.  

The remuneration of our executive directors and other Very Senior Managers (VSM) 

is approved by the Remuneration Committee. Remuneration levels are determined in 

line with the national ICB Executive Pay Framework and benchmarking data. The 

Committee is responsible for reviewing senior managers’ pay in terms of both basic 

pay awards and cost of living increases.  

The remuneration of the ICB’s Non-Executive Directors is set in line with the national 

framework for ICB non-executive member remuneration and is approved by our Non-

Executive Director Remuneration Panel. The remuneration of the ICB’s Chair is set 

by NHS England.  

Legislation allows for the ICB’s Partner Members to be remunerated where relevant; 

recognising that what is appropriate may vary for different members, depending on 

their circumstances. However; national guidance is clear that no members should be 

paid twice for the same time by different organisations. In line with this, the ICB has 

determined that the NHS Trust and Foundation Trust Partner Members and the 

Local Authority Partner Members are unremunerated appointments. The Primary 

Care Partner Member will be required to commit time to the ICB in relation to their 
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appointment for which they won’t be remunerated by their practice. As such, this role 

is remunerated at a standard sessional rate, calculated based on backfill costs.  

The ICB does not operate any performance-related pay arrangements.  

Standard contracts have been established for all senior manager posts, which differ 

depending on whether the post is appointed for a term of office (as is the case for 

some Board roles, such as our Non-Executive Directors and Partner Members) or is 

an employed position (as is the case for our Very Senior Managers). Standard notice 

periods are three months on either side. 

 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers  

Two Very Senior Managers are paid more than £150,000 per annum pro rata. The 

ICB has satisfied itself that this remuneration is reasonable via the Remuneration 

Committee, which has assured itself that the remuneration is in line with the ICB’s 

policy on the remuneration of senior managers (see above).  
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Senior manager remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (subject to audit) 

The following information is for the period 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023.  No comparator to the previous year is available, as this is 

the first year of the ICB’s operation. 

Name and Title 

 

(a) 

Salary 

(bands of 

£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense payments 

(taxable) 

to nearest £100* 

(c) 

Performance pay 

and bonuses 

(bands of £5,000) 

(d) 

Long term 

performance pay and 

bonuses (bands of 

£5,000) 

(e) 

All pension-related 

benefits 

(bands of £2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL  

(a to e) 

(bands of 

£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Professor Marios Adamou – Non-Executive Director1 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Dr John Brewin – NHS Trust/Foundation Trust Partner 
Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dr Dave Briggs – Medical Director2 110-115 0 0 0 57.5-60 170-175 

Lucy Dadge – Director of Integration3 110-115 0 0 0 45-47.5 155-160 

Stephen Jackson – Non-Executive Director4 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Dr Kelvin Lim – Primary Care Partner Member5 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Ifti Majid – NHS Trust/Foundation Trust Partner Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Caroline Maley – Non-Executive Director6 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Dr Kathy McLean – Chair7 45-50 0 0 0 0 45-50 

Stuart Poynor – Director of Finance8 120-125 0 0 0 0 120-125 

Paul Robinson – NHS Trust/Foundation Trust Partner Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dr Amanda Sullivan – Chief Executive9 145-150 0 0 0 0 145-150 

John Towler – Non-Executive Director10 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Rosa Waddingham – Director of Nursing11 105-110 0 0 0 0 105-110 

Melanie Williams – Local Authority Partner Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Catherine Underwood – Local Authority Partner Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100. 
 
 

The full annual salaries of the above posts are shown below: 

 
1 15-20 
2 110-115 
3 140-145 
4 15-20 
5 10-15 
6 15-20 
7 60-65 
8 155-160 
9 195-200 
10 20-25 
11 140-145 
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Pension benefits (subject to audit) 

The following information is for the period 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023.  No comparator to the previous year is available, as this is 

the first year of the ICB’s operation. 

Name and Title 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) 

Real increase in 

pension at 

pension age 

Real increase in 

pension lump 

sum at pension 

age 

Total accrued 

pension at 

pension age at 31 

March 2023 

Lump sum at 

pension age 

related to 

accrued pension 

at 31 March 2023 

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value at 1 

July 2023 

Real Increase 

in Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value 

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value at 31 

March 2023 

Employers 

Contribution 

to 

stakeholder 

pension 

(bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000)         

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Dave Briggs – Medical Director 2.5-5 0-2.5 30-35 40-45 432 29 505 0 

Lucy Dadge – Director of Integration 2.5-5 0-2.5 25-30 55-60 526 49 606 0 

Stuart Poynor – Director of Finance   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dr Amanda Sullivan – Chief Executive 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Rosa Waddingham – Director of Nursing  0 0 10-15 0-5 451 0 139 0 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 

the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 

benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 

other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 

scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 

pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 

consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 

in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 

benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 

the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 

to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 

the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 

framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  

 

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 

the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 

employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 

arrangement). 

 

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office (subject to audit) 

There were no payments to past members made during the period 1 July 2022 to 31 

March 2023. 

 

Payments to past directors (subject to audit) 

There were no payments made to past directors during the period 1 July 2022 to 31 

March 2023. 
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Staff Report 

Number of senior managers and staff composition 

The following table provides a breakdown of our workforce by pay band and gender 

as at 31 March 2023: 

Pay band Female Male Number 

Band 1 0 0 0 

Band 2 1 2 3 

Band 3 27 4 31 

Band 4 34 1 35 

Band 5 59 8 67 

Band 6 60 21 81 

Band 7 82 23 105 

Band 8a 77 16 93 

Band 8b 33 13 46 

Band 8c 24 6 30 

Band 8d 13 3 16 

Band 9 11 5 16 

Very senior managers (non-Board members) 2 6 8 

Any other spot salary (non-Board members) 12 14 26 

Board members 5 6 11 

Totals    440 128 568 

 

Staff numbers and costs (subject to audit) 

The following table shows the average number and costs of whole time equivalent 

(WTE) staff employed by the ICB across the financial year: 

 

Number 
Salary and 

wages 

Social 
security 

costs 

NHS 
Pension 

costs 

Other 
pensions 

costs 

Less: 
recoveries in 

respect of 
outward 

secondments Total Costs 

 (WTE) (£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (£’000) 

Permanent 478.98 19,112 2,211 3,297 3 0 24,623 

Other 10.05 873 0 1 0 0 874 

Total 489.03 19,985 2,211 3,298 3 0 25,497 

 

Sickness absence data 

Sickness absence data for the reporting period has been calculated in accordance 

with guidance from the Department of Health and Social Care:  

1 July 2022 – 31 March 2023  

Total days lost (WTE) 3825.2 

Total days available (WTE) 131912.8 

Average working days lost due to sickness absencei (per WTE) 6.5% 

 

Staff turnover percentages 

The ICB’s staff turnover rate (staff leaving the organisation) during the reporting 

period was 13.53% (on a WTE basis). 

 
i The average has been estimated by dividing the estimated number of FTE days sick by the average FTE days available and 

multiplying by 225 (the typical number of working days per year). 







 

Page | 79  
 

Agreement will acknowledge the recognised Trade Unions to support, represent and 

bargain for its members.  

Time off for Trade Union duties and activities is detailed in the ICB’s Special Leave 

Policy. For members of a recognised Trade Union, Trade Union activities are unpaid. 

For Trade Union duties, training or acting as a Learning Representative, payment is 

made in line with ACAS Code of Practice. To date, we have only been asked to 

recognise one employee as a representative for Managers in Partnership Trade 

Union. 

 

Expenditure on Consultancy 

Expenditure on consultancy for the period 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023 totalled 

£258,000. 

 

Off-payroll engagements: 

Table 1: Length of all highly paid off-payroll engagements 

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2023, for more than £245i per day:  

  Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2023 1 

Of which, the number that have existed:   

 For less than one year at the time of reporting 1 

 For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

 For between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 

 For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 

 For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 

Existing off-payroll engagements have been subject to a risk-based assessment to 

ascertain whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right amount 

of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 

 

Table 2: Off-payroll workers engaged at any point during the financial year 

For all off-payroll engagements between 1 July 2022 and 31 March 2023, for more 

than £245i per day: 

  Number 

No. of temporary off-payroll workers engaged between 1 July 2022 and 31 March 2023 6 

Of which:  

No. not subject to off-payroll legislationii 5 

No. subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as in-scope of IR35 ii 0 

No. subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as out of scope of IR35 ii 1 

The number of engagements reassessed for compliance or assurance purposes during the year 0 

Of which: No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following review 0 

 
i The £245 threshold is set to approximate the minimum point of the pay scale for a Senior Civil Servant 
ii A worker that provides their services through their own limited company or another type of intermediary to the client will be 
subject to off-payroll legislation and the Department must undertake an assessment to determine whether that worker is in-
scope of Intermediaries legislation (IR35) or out-of-scope for tax purposes. 
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Table 3: Off-payroll engagements/senior official engagements 

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with 

significant financial responsibility: 
 

Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, during the reporting period. 

0 

Total number of individuals on-payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed “Board members and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility” during the reporting period. This figure includes both on-payroll 
and off-payroll engagements. 

15 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject to audit) 

Table 1: Exit Packages  

  
Exit Package cost band (including 
any special payment element) 

Number of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies  

Cost of 
Compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

agreed 
departures 

Cost of other 
agreed 

departures 

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages 

Total cost of 
exit 

packages  

Number of 
departures 

where special 
payments have 

been made 

Cost of special 
payment element 
included in exit 

packages 

Whole 
Numbers 

 only £s 

Whole 
Numbers 

 only £s 

Whole 
Numbers 

 only £s 

Whole 
Numbers 

 only £s 

Less than £10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£10,000 - £25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£25,001 - £50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£50,001 - £100,000 1 69,000 0 0 1 69,000 0 0 

£100,001 - £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£150,001 - £200,000 1 160,000 0 0 1 160,000 0 0 

>£200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Totals 2 229,000 0 0 2 229,000 0 0 

 

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of NHS Agenda for Change Terms and 

Conditions of Service. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. 

 

Analysis of Other Departures 

The ICB agreed no departures where special payments have been made during the reporting period. 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 

NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB is not required to produce a 

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent 

liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as 

notes in the Financial Statements of this report from page 82. An audit certificate and 

report is also included in this Annual Report at page 115. 
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Annual Accounts 

Signed: 

Dr Amanda Sullivan 

Chief Executive 

28 June 2023 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the period ended

31 March 2023

2022-23

Note £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (12,071)

Other operating income 2 (8,804)

Total operating income (20,875)

Staff costs 4 25,566

Purchase of goods and services 5 1,811,423

Depreciation and impairment charges 5 191

Provision expense 5 (100)

Other Operating Expenditure 5 383

Total operating expenditure 1,837,463

Net Operating Expenditure 1,816,588

Finance income -

Finance expense (78)

Net expenditure for the Period 1,816,510

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption -

Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Period 1,816,510

Other Comprehensive Expenditure

Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE -

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of right-of-use assets -

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles -

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets -

Net (gain)/loss on assets held for sale -

Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes -

Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve -

Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs -

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of other Financial Assets -

Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets -

Total other comprehensive net expenditure -

Comprehensive Expenditure for the Period 1,816,510
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Statement of Financial Position as at period ended 

31 March 2023

31 March 2023 1 July 2022

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 13 19 -

Right-of-use assets 13 1,515 1,706

Total non-current assets 1,534 1,706

Current assets:

Inventories 16 - -

Trade and other receivables 17 21,105 7,722

Other financial assets 18 - -

Other current assets 19 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 20 2 18

Total current assets 21,107 7,740

Non-current assets held for sale 21 - -

Total current assets 21,107 7,740

Total assets 22,641 9,446

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 (109,437) (94,615)

Other financial liabilities 24 - -

Other liabilities 25 - -

Lease liabilities 13a (243) (327)

Borrowings 26 - -

Provisions 30 (1,011) (1,304)

Total current liabilities (110,691) (96,246)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (88,050) (86,800)

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 - -

Other financial liabilities 24 - -

Other liabilities 25 - -

Lease liabilities 13a (1,223) (1,381)

Borrowings 26 - -

Provisions 30 - -

Total non-current liabilities (1,223) (1,381)

Assets less Liabilities (89,273) (88,181)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (89,273) (88,181)

Revaluation reserve - -

Other reserves - -

Charitable Reserves -

Total taxpayers' equity: (89,273) (88,181)

The notes on pages 88 to 114 form part of this statement

Amanda Sullivan

Chief Executive

The financial statements on pages 84 to 87 were approved by the Audit and Risk Committee on 13th June 2023 and signed 

on its behalf by:

85



NHS Nottingham & Not inghamshire ICB - Accounts for he period ended 31 March 2023

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the period ended

31 March 2023

 General fund 

 Revaluation 

reserve 

 Other 

reserves  Total reserves 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2022-23

Balance as at 01 July 2022 - - - -

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies - - - -

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2023 - - - -

-

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2022-23

Total transition adjustment for initial application of IFRS 16 - - - -

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (1,816,510) - - (1,816,510)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of right-of-use assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets - - - -

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve - -

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for sale 

financial assets) - -

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale - - - -

Impairments and reversals - - - -

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions - - - -

Movements in other reserves - - - -

Transfers between reserves - - - -

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure - - - -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets - - - -

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies (88,192) - - (88,192)

Reserves eliminated on dissolution - - - -
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial period (1,904,702) - - (1,904,702)

Net funding 1,815,428 - - 1,815,428

Balance at 31 March 2023 (89,273) - - (89,273)

The notes on pages 88 to 114 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the period ended

31 March 2023

2022-23

Note £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial period (1,816,510)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 191

Impairments and reversals 5 -

Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards -

Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption 18

Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange -

Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash -

Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash -

Interest paid -

Release of PFI deferred credit -

Other Gains & Losses (89)

Finance Costs -

Unwinding of Discounts -

(Increase)/decrease in inventories -

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 (13,657)

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets -

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 15,095

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities -

Provisions utilised 30 (191)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30 (100)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (1,815,243)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest received -

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment (19)

(Payments) for intangible assets -

(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health -

(Payments) for other financial assets -

(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT) -

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment 89

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets -

Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health -

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets -

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT) -

Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards -

Loans made in respect of LIFT -

Loans repaid in respect of LIFT -

Rental revenue -

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 70

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (1,815,173)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 1,815,428

Other loans received -

Other loans repaid -

Repayment of lease liabilities (253)

Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT -

Capital grants and other capital receipts -

Capital receipts surrendered -

Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards -

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 1,815,175

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 2

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial period

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies -

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial period 2

The notes on pages 88 to 114 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed hat the financial statements of Integrated Care Boards (ICBS) shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting 

Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group 

Accounting Manual 2022-23 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow 

International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to Integrated Care Boards, as determined by HM Treasury, 

which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy 

which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the ICB for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular 

policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in 

relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis 

The Health and Social Care Act was introduced into the House of Commons on 6 July 2021. The Bill allowed for the establishment of Integrated Care Boards 

(ICB) across England and abolished Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG).  ICBs took on the commissioning functions of CCGs. The CCG functions, assets and 

liabilities were transferred to an ICB on 1 July 2022. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in he future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion 

of financial provision for that service in published documents.

When clinical commissioning group ceased to exist on 1 July 2022, the services con inued to be provided by ICBs (using he same assets, by another public 

sector entity). The financial statements for ICBs are prepared on a Going Concern basis as they will continue to provide the services in the future.

1 2  Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible 

assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1 3 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group

As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are 

outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department of Health and Social Care GAM 

requires the application of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, 

with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabili ies transfer, the gain or loss resulting is 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Heal h and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to 

income and expenditure entries.

1.4 Pooled Budgets

The Integrated Care Board (ICB) entered into a pooled budget arrangement for Integrated Community Equipment Schemes with Nottinghamshire  

County Council. Under the arrangements, funds are pooled under section 75 of the NHS Act for Integrated Community Equipment Scheme activities.

The Pool is hosted by Nottinghamshire County Council.  As a Commissioner of Healthcare Services, the ICB makes 

contributions to the pool.  

The second pooled budget is 'The Better Care Fund (BCF)' and is hosted by Nottingham City Council, and jointly commissions services to achieve national 

and local objectives to integrate health and social care services in Nottingham City.

It is between he ICB and Nottingham City Council, and its aims are to improve the quality & efficiency of services.

The ICB accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from he activi ies of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the 

pooled budget agreement

1 5 Operating Segments

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the ICB.

1.6  Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows:

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard, the ICB will not disclose informa ion regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has an original expected 

duration of one year or less,

• The ICB is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where 

the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of he performance completed to date.

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires he ICB to reflect the aggregate effect of all 

contracts modified before the date of initial application.

The main source of funding for the ICBs is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which 

it is received.

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and 

is measured at he amount of the transaction price allocated to hat performance obligation.

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.

The value of the benefit received when the ICB accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 

20, Accoun ing for Government Grants. Where hese funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash 

training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.7 Employee Benefits

1.7.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from he apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is 

received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to he extent that employees are permitted 

to carry forward leave into the following period.
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1.7.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be 

found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa nhs uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and 

other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that 

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 

contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting 

period.  

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 

additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the ICB commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1 8 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the 

consideration payable.

1 9 Grants Payable 

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the ICB recognises the expenditure in the 

period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.10 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the ICB;

                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 

interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,

                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate 

assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.10 2 Measurement

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the 

location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use.  Assets that were most recently held 

for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of 

the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:

                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not 

borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation 

commences when they are brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where 

these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in 

expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a 

loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve 

for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses 

recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.10 3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure 

restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to 

operating expenses.

1.11 Intangible Assets

1.11.1 Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the ICB’s business or which arise from 

contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:

                When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the ICB;

                Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,

                Where the cost is at least £5,000.

Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. 

Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not 

capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the 

following have been demonstrated:

                The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;

                The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;

                The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

                How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;

                The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,

                The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

1.11 2 Measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 

expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is 

recognised in the period in which it is incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the 

lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the 

opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, 

plant and equipment.

1.12 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less 

any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The 

estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the ICB expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the ICB 

and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes 

recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life.

At each reporting period end, the ICB checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets 

have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has 

been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to 

the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic 

benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the 

recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is 

credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
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1.13 Leases

A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The ICB assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.

1.13.1 The ICB as Lessee

A right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognised at commencement of the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 

readily determined, the prescribed HM Treasury discount rates are used as the incremental borrowing rate to discount future lease payments.

The HM Treasury incremental borrowing rate of 3.51% is applied for leases commencing, transitioning or being remeasured in the 2023 calendar year under FRS 

16.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise

-	Fixed payments;

	Variable lease payments dependent on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at commencement; 

-	The amount expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

-	The exercise price of purchase options, if it is reasonably certain the option will be exercised; and

	Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability and are recognised as an expense in the period in 

which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount for interest incurred using the effective interest method and decreasing the carrying 

amount to reflect the lease payments made. The lease liability is remeasured, with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset, to reflect any 

reassessment of or modification made to the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at an amount equal to the initial lease liability adjusted for any lease prepayments or incentives, initial direct costs or an 

estimate of any dismantling, removal or restoring costs relating to either restoring the location of the asset or restoring the underlying asset itself, unless costs are 

incurred to produce inventories.

The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset is consistent with the principles for subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment. 

Accordingly, right-of-use assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are subsequently measured at their current value in existing use.

Right-of-use assets for leases that are low value or short term and for which current value in use is not expected to fluctuate significantly due to changes in market 

prices and conditions are valued at depreciated historical cost as a proxy for current value in existing use. 

Other than leases for assets under construction and investment property, the right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset. The right-of-use asset is tested for impairment if there are any indicators of impairment and 

impairment losses are accounted for as described in the ‘Depreciation, amortisation and impairments’ policy.

Peppercorn leases are defined as leases for which the consideration paid is nil or nominal (that is, significantly below market value). Peppercorn leases are in the 

scope of IFRS 16 if they meet the definition of a lease in all aspects apart from containing consideration. 

For peppercorn leases a right-of-use asset is recognised and initially measured at current value in existing use. The lease liability is measured in accordance with 

the above policy. Any difference between the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability is recognised as income as required by IAS 20 as 

interpreted by the FReM.

Leases of low value assets (value when new less than £5,000) and short-term leases of 12 months or less are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease.

1.14 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments 

that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the 

ICB’s cash management.

1.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the ICB has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the ICB will be required to 

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 

expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using 

the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date:

• A nominal short-term rate of 3.27% (2021-22: -0.47%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position 

date.

• A nominal medium-term rate of 3.20% (2021-22: 0.70%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement 

of Financial Position date.

• A nominal long-term rate of 3.51% (2021-22 0.95%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement 

of Financial Position date.

• A nominal very long-term rate of 3.00% (2021-22: 0.66%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position 

date.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset 

if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the ICB has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected 

that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring 

provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and 

not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.16 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the ICB pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence 

claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 

remains with ICB.

1.17 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The ICB participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the ICB pays an 

annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 

excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme

The Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport CO2 emissions. The ICB is registered with the CRC scheme, 

and is therefore required to surrender to the Government an allowance for every tonne of CO2 it emits during the financial year. A liability and related expense is 

recognised in respect of this obligation as CO2 emissions are made.

The carrying amount of the liability at the financial year end will therefore reflect the CO2 emissions that have been made during that financial year, less the 

allowances (if any) surrendered voluntarily during the financial year in respect of that financial year.

The liability will be measured at the amount expected to be incurred in settling the obligation. This will be the cost of the number of allowances required to settle the 

obligation.

Allowances acquired under the scheme are recognised as intangible assets.

1.19 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the ICB, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be 

required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a 

payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the ICB. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
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1 20 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the ICB becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 

have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

·                Financial assets at amortised cost;

·                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;

·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of 

initial recognition.

1 20.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are hose held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows  and where 

the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition 

these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of he financial asset.

1 20.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1 20.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are hose that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income.  This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1 20.4 Impairment

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through o her comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value 

through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the ICB recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the 

financial asset.

The ICB adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance wi h IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and 

contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal 

to 12 mon h expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their executive 

agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The ICB therefore does not 

recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of 

last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the ICB does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 

these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as he 

difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original 

effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1 21 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the ICB becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in 

the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, 

the liability has been paid or has expired.

1 21.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:

·                The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,

·                The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1 21.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteris ics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot 

be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value hrough profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the 

ICB’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1 21.3 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all o her financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health 

and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate hat exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of 

the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1 22 Value Added Tax

Most of the ac ivities of the ICB are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or 

input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1 23 Foreign Currencies

The ICB’s func ional currency and presentational currency is pounds sterling and amounts are presented in thousands of pounds unless expressly stated 

otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of 

the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and 

losses for either of these are recognised in the ICB’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1 24 Third Party Assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the ICB has no beneficial interest in them.

1 25 Losses & Special Payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their 

nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared wi h the generality of payments. They are 

divided into different categories, which govern the way hat individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made 

good through insurance cover had the ICB not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1 26 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the ICB's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and assumptions.  These are regularly 

reviewed.
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1 26.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about he future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities wi hin the next financial year:

(a)    Healthcare contracts: based on the provisional costed activity data provided by the healthcare providers in conjunc ion wi h historic experience and using 

any additional intelligence available. The data is subject to final verification and validation;

(b)    Prescribing: calculated by applying the forecast expenditure profile provided by the NHS Business Services Authority, to the expenditure incurred during the 

first 11 months, or 10, if month 11 not provided in a timely manner, taking into account prior year expenditure. The extent to which any in-year changes to the 

costs of generic drugs have been reflected in the expenditure profile will be assessed and adjustments made as appropriate. The impact of increased costs due 

to concessions under the 'no cheaper stock obtainable' policy will be assessed and adjustments made as appropriate. The costs of influenza and pneumococcal 

vaccinations are recharged to NHS England and the level of recharge for March, and February if informa ion not provided in a timely manner, will be calculated 

using the profile of such costs incurred in prior years;

(c)     Non-contracted activity: based on year to date costs invoiced and prior year expenditure;

(d)    Individual packages of care (including continuing healthcare): The primary source of information to estimate the forecast spend will be the lists of patients 

held for each type of package. An assessment will be made in respect of the likely number of cases and associated costs (based on known costs for the provider 

or an average cost for the type of care) where care is being provided but funding has not yet been agreed due to delays between assessment and 

panel/notification to the ICB or agreement of the level of costs.

It should be noted that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, contracts for services and payments for non-contracted activity with NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 

have been replaced with block contract arrangements for 2022/23, significantly reducing the level of estimations required.

Payments for non-contracted activity during 2022/23 have been restricted to those to other ICBs, providers in the devolved authorities (Scotland, Wales & 

Northern Ireland) and non-NHS providers. 

1 27 Gifts

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no precondi ions and without he expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent 

to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.

1 28 New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective

● IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts – Not UK-endorsed. Applies to first time adopters of IFRS after 1 January 2016. Therefore, not applicable to DHSC group 

bodies.

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Applica ion required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. Standard is not yet adopted by the FReM 

which is expected to be April 2025: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

2022-23

Total

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)

Education, training and research -

Non-patient care services to other bodies 2,844

Patient transport services -

Prescription fees and charges 4,245

Dental fees and charges -

Income generation -

Other Contract income 4,982

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits -

Total Income from sale of goods and services 12,071

Other operating income

Rental revenue from finance leases -

Rental revenue from operating leases -

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: NHS -

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS -

Receipt of donations (capital/cash) -

Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions -

Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions -

Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue -

Other non contract revenue 8,804

Total Other operating income 8,804

Total Operating Income 20,875
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3.1 Disaggregation of Income  Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education, training 

and research

Non patient care 

services to other 

bodies

Patient transport 

services

Prescription fees 

and charges

Dental fees and 

charges
Income generation

Other Contract 

income

Recoveries in 

respect of employee 

benefits

TOTAL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Source of Revenue

NHS - 725 - - - - 616 - 1,341

Non NHS - 2 119 - 4 245 - - 4 366 - 10 730

Total 2,844 4,245 4,982 12,071

Education, training 

and research

Non patient care 

services to other 

bodies

Patient transport 

services

Prescription fees 

and charges

Dental fees and 

charges
Income generation

Other Contract 

income

Recoveries in 

respect of employee 

benefits

TOTAL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Timing of Revenue

Point in time - - - - - - - - -

Over time - 2 844 - 4 245 - - 4 982 - 12 071

Total 2,844 4,245 4,982 12,071

3.2 Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations

Period ended 31st March 

2023

Revenue expected 

from NHSE Bodies

Revenue expected 

from Other DHSC 

Group Bodies

Revenue expected 

from Non-DHSC Group 

Bodies

2021-22
Revenue expected 

from NHSE Bodies

Revenue expected 

from Other DHSC 

Group Bodies

Revenue expected from 

Non-DHSC Group 

Bodies

TOTAL

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000

Not later than 1 year - - - - - - - - -

Later than 1 year, not later than 5 years - - - - - - - - -

Later than 5 Years - - - - - - - - -

Total

Contract revenue expected to be recognised in the future periods related to contract performance obligations not 
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2022-23

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 10,010 224 10,234 9,102 650 9,752 19,112 874 19,986

Social security costs 1,232 - 1,232 978 - 978 2,210 - 2,210

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme 2,183 - 2,183 1,114 1 1,115 3,297 1 3,298

Other pension costs 1 - 1 2 - 2 3 - 3

Apprenticeship Levy - - - - - - - - -

Other post-employment benefits - - - - - - - - -

Other employment benefits - - - - - - - - -

Termination benefits 69 - 69 - - - 69 - 69

Gross employee benefits expenditure 13,495 224 13,719 11,196 651 11,847 24,691 875 25,566

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) - - - - - - - - -

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 13,495 224 13,719 11,196 651 11,847 24,691 875 25,566

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - - - - - - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 13,495 224 13,719 11,196 651 11,847 24,691 875 25,566

Admin Programme Total
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4.2 Average number of people employed

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Number Number Number

Total 478.98 10.05 489.03

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital 

projects - - - - - -

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Number £ Number £ Number £

Less than £10,000 - - - - - -

£10,001 to £25,000 - - - - - -

£25,001 to £50,000 - - - - - -

£50,001 to £100,000 1 69,000 - - 1 69,000

£100,001 to £150,000 - - - - - -

£150,001 to £200,000 1 160,000 - - 1 160,000

Over £200,001 - - - - - -

Total 2 229,000 - - 2 229,000

Number £

Less than £10,000 - -

£10,001 to £25,000 - -

£25,001 to £50,000 - -

£50,001 to £100,000 - -

£100,001 to £150,000 - -

£150,001 to £200,000 - -

Over £200,001 - -

Total - -

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Number £

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs - -

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs - -

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs - -

Contractual payments in lieu of notice - -

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders - -

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval* - -

Total - -

2022-23

2022-23

Other agreed departures Total

2022-23

2022-23

Departures where special 

payments have been made

2022-23

2022-23

Compulsory redundancies

Other agreed departures
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4.5 Pension costs  

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of 

the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes 

that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social 

Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 

underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to 

the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be 

four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the 

end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 

purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2023, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2022, updated to 31 March 

2023 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 

relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual 

NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can 

also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent 

demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.  

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation 

set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.  

The actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2020 is currently underway and will set the new employer contribution rate due to be implemented 

from April 2024.
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5. Operating expenses

2022-23

Total

£'000

Purchase of goods and services

Services from other ICBs, CCGs and NHS England 985

Services from foundation trusts 589,010

Services from other NHS trusts 565,752

Provider Sustainability Fund -

Services from Other WGA bodies 2

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 304,198

Purchase of social care -

General Dental services and personal dental services -

Prescribing costs 150,176

Pharmaceutical services -

General Ophthalmic services -

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 166,659

Supplies and services – clinical 1,312

Supplies and services – general 9,316

Consultancy services 468

Establishment 2,725

Transport 7,194

Premises 11,394

Audit fees 285

Other non statutory audit expenditure

·          Internal audit services -

·          Other services 6

Other professional fees 45

Legal fees 280

Education, training and conferences 1,616

Funding to group bodies -

CHC Risk Pool contr butions -

Non cash apprenticeship training grants -

 Total Purchase of goods and services 1,811,423

Depreciation and impairment charges

Depreciation 191

Amortisation -

Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment -

Impairments and reversals of right-of-use assets -

Impairments and reversals of intangible assets -

Impairments and reversals of financial assets -

·          Assets carried at amortised cost -

·          Assets carried at cost -

·          Available for sale financial assets -

Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale -

Impairments and reversals of investment properties -

Total Depreciation and impairment charges 191

Provision expense

Change in discount rate -

Provisions (100)

Total Provision expense (100)

Other Operating Expenditure

Chair and Non Executive Members 279

Grants to Other bodies -

Clinical negligence -

Research and development (excluding staff costs) 40

Expected credit loss on receivables 64

Expected credit loss on other financial assets (stage 1 and 2 only) -

Inventories written down -

Inventories consumed -

Other expenditure -

Total Other Operating Expenditure 383

Total operating expenditure 1,811,897
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2022-23 2022-23

Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 34,431 487,770

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 34,374 487,135

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.83% 99.87%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1,308 1,174,702

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,297 1,174,534

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.16% 99.99%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 2022-23

£'000

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation 0

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation -

Total 0
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7 Income Generation Activities

There were no Income Generation Activities during the year.

8 Investment Income

There was no Investment Income during the year.

9 Other Gains and Losses

2022-23

£'000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment assets other than by sale (89)

-

Total (89)

10 Finance Costs

2022-23

£'000

Interest on lease liabilities 11

11
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11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

The figures shown below represent the sum of the two CCGs

Total

NHS England 

Parent Entities

NHS England 

Group Entities 

(non parent)

Non NHSE 

Group

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Transfer of property plant and equipment - - - -

Transfer of Right of Use assets 1,706 - 1,706 -

Transfer of cash and cash equivalents 18 - 18 -

Transfer of receivables 7,722 - 7,722 -

Transfer of payables (94,626) (11) (94,615) -

Transfer of provisions (1,304) - (1,304) -

Transfer of Right Of Use liabilities (1,708) - (1,708) -

Net loss on transfers by absorption (88,192) (11) (88,181) -

12. Operating Leases - N/A covered under Note 13a

Transfers as part of a reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of modified absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government 

Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting 

requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and 

liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.                                                              During 

the period 01 July 2022 to 31 March 2023, NHS England transferred the PUPOC liability to ICB, which totalled £11,000 for the ICB.  This has been treated as Transfer by Absorption.

2022-23

On 1 July 2022, the Clinical Commissioing Groups of NHS Bassetlaw and NHS Nottingham & Nottinghamshire ceased to exist, and NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB was established.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

2022-23 Land 

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 

construction 

and payments 

on account

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 July 2022 - - - - - - - - -

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account - -

Additions purchased - - - - - - 19 - 19

Additions donated - - - - - - - - -

Additions government granted - - - - - - - - -

Additions leased - - - - - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - -

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals - - - - - - - - -

Disposals other than by sale - - - - - - - - -

Upward revaluation gains - - - - - - - - -

Impairments charged - - - - - - - - -

Reversal of impairments - - - - - - - - -

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body - - - - - - 143 - 143

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation - - - - - - - - -

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - 162 - 162

Depreciation 01 July 2022 - - - - - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - -

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals - - - - - - - - -

Disposals other than by sale - - - - - - - - -

Upward revaluation gains - - - - - - - - -

Impairments charged - - - - - - - - -

Reversal of impairments - - - - - - - - -

Charged during the year - - - - - - - - -

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body - - - - - - 143 - 143

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - 143 - 143

Net Book Value at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - 19 - 19

Purchased - - - - - - 19 - 19

Donated - - - - - - - - -

Government Granted - - - - - - - - -

Total at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - 19 - 19

Asset financing:

Owned - - - - - - 19 - 19

Held on finance lease - - - - - - - - -

On-SOFP Lift contracts - - - - - - - - -

PFI residual: interests - - - - - - - - -

Total at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - 19 - 19
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13a Leases

13a.1 Right of use assets

2022 23 Land 

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 

construction and 

payments on 

account

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

Of which: leased 

from DHSC group 

bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 01 July 2022 - - - - - - - - -

IFRS 16 Transition Adjustment - - - - - - - - -

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account - -

Additions - - - - - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - -

Upward revaluation gains - - - - - - - - -

Lease remeasurement - - - - - - - - -

Modifications - - - - - - - - -

Disposals on expiry of lease term - - - - - - - - -

Derecognition for early terminations - - - - - - - - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body - 1 790 - - - - - - 1 790 597

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2023 1,790 1,790 597

Depreciation 01 July 2022 - - - - - - - - -

Charged during the year - 191 - - - - - - 191 97

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - -

Upward revaluation gains - - - - - - - - -

Impairments charged - - - - - - - - -

Reversal of impairments - - - - - - - - -

Disposals on expiry of lease term - - - - - - - - -

Derecognition for early terminations - - - - - - - - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body - 83 - - - - - - 83 52

Depreciation at 31 March 2023 274 274 149

Net Book Value at 31 March 2023 1,516 1,516 448

NBV by counterparty

Leased from DHSC 448

Leased from the NHS England Group 0

Leased from NHS Providers 0

Leased from Executive Agencies 0

Leased from Non-Departmental Public Bodies 0

Leased from other group bodies 0

Net Book Value at 31 March 2023 448
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13a Leases cont'd

13a.2 Lease liabilities

2022-23 2022-23

£'000

Lease liabilities at 01 July 2022 -

IFRS 16 Transition Adjustment (1,790)

Addition of Assets under Construction & Payments on Account -

Additions purchased -

Reclassifications -

Interest expense relating to lease liabilities -

Repayment of lease liabilities (including interest) (11)

Lease remeasurement 253

Modifications -

Disposals on expiry of lease term -

Derecognition for early terminations -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body -

Other -

Lease liabilities at 31 March 2023 (1,548)

13a.3 Lease liabilities - Maturity analysis of undiscounted future lease payments

2022-23

Of which  leased 

from DHSC group 

bodies

£'000 £000 

Within one year (223) (92)

Between one and five years (800) (276)

After five years (459) -

Balance at 31 March 2023 (1,482) (368)

Effect of Discounting (16)

Included in

Current lease liabilities (244)

Non-current lease liabilities (1,223)

Balance at 31 March 2023 (1,467)

Balance by counterparty

Leased from 

DHSC Group

Leased from DHSC -

Leased from the NHS England Group -

Leased from NHS Providers -

Leased from Executive Agencies -

Leased from Non-Departmental Public Bodies -

Leased from other group bodies 362

Balance as at 31 March 2023 362
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13a Leases cont'd

13a.4 Amounts recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

2022-23 2022-23

£'000

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 191

Interest expense on lease liabilities 11

Expense relating to short-term leases -

Expense relating to leases of low value assets -

Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability -

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets -

Gain/(loss) from sale and leaseback transactions -

Gain/(loss) resulting from COVID-19 related rent concessions -

13a.5 Amounts recognised in Statement of Cash Flows

2022-23

£'000

Total cash outflow on leases under IFRS 16 253

Total cash outflow for lease payments not included within the measurement of lease liabilities -

Total cash inflows from sale and leaseback transactions -

13a.6 Revaluation

There has been no revaluation in the year

14 Intengible Non Current Assets

The ICB has no Intangible Assets at the year end

15 Investment Property

The ICB has no Investment Property at the year end

16 Inventories

The ICB has no Inventories at the year end
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17.1  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current

2022-23 2022-23  1 July 2022  1 July 2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 3,673 - 489 -

NHS receivables: Capital - - - -

NHS prepayments - - - -

NHS accrued income 2,252 - 29 -

NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice - - - -

NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i e pass through funding) - - - -

NHS Contract Assets - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 974 - 465 -

Non-NHS  and Other WGA receivables: Capital - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 1,353 - 2,812 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 12,516 - 3,334 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet  invoiced/non-invoice - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding) - - - -

Non-NHS Contract Assets - - - -

Expected credit loss allowance-receivables (35) - (199) -

VAT 358 - 766 -

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership arrangement prepayments and 

accrued income - - - -

Interest receivables - - - -

Finance lease receivables - - - -

Operating lease receivables - - - -

Other receivables and accruals 14 - 27 -

Total Trade & other receivables 21,105 - 7,723 -

Total current and non current 21,105 7,723

Included above:

Prepaid pensions contributions - -

17.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2022-23 2022-23  1 July 2022  1 July 2022

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC Group 

Bodies

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC Group 

Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

By up to three months 91 110 - 13

By three to six months 20 22 - 99

By more than six months 24 15 24 207

Total 135 147 24 319

17.3 Loss allowance on asset classes

Trade and other 

receivables - Non 

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Other financial 

assets
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 30 June 2022 (199) - (199)

Lifetime expected credit loss on credit impaired financial assets - - -

Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2 - - -

Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 3 14 - 14

Credit losses recognised on purchase originated credit impaired financial assets - - -

Amounts written off 78 - 78

Financial assets that have been derecognised  76 - 76

Changes due to modifications that did not result in derecognition  - - -

Transfer by Absorption from other entity - - -

Other changes (4) - (4)

Total (35) - (35)
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18 Other Financial Assets

The ICB has no Other Financial Assets at the year end

19 Other Current Assets

The ICB has no Other Current Assets at the year end

20 Cash and cash equivalents

2022-23 1 July 2022

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2022 53

Net change in year 2 (35)

Balance at 31 March 2023 2 18

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 2 18

Cash with Commercial banks - -

Cash in hand - -

Current investments - -

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of  2 18

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service - -

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks - -

Total bank overdrafts - -

Balance at 31 March 2023 2 18

21 Non Current Assets Held for Sale

The ICB has no Non Current Assets Held for Sale at the period end.

The ICB has no Impairments and Reversals at the period end

22 Analysis of Impairments and Reversals
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Current Non-current Current Non-current

2022-23 2022-23 1 July 2022 1 July 2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest payable - - - -

NHS payables: Revenue 2,823 - 1,527 -

NHS payables: Capital - - - -

NHS accruals 8,190 - 16,064 -

NHS deferred income - - - -

NHS Contract Liabilities - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 26,095 - 15,536 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 42,727 - 37,682 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income 345 - - -

Non-NHS Contract Liabilities - - - -

Social security costs 54 - 160 -

VAT - - -

Tax 313 - 294 -

Payments received on account - - - -

Other payables and accruals 28,890 - 23,352 -

Total Trade & Other Payables 109,437 - 94,615 -

Total current and non-current 109,437 94,615

24 Other financial liabilities

The ICB has no Other Financial Liabilities at the period end

25 Other liabilities

The ICB has no Other Liabilities at the period end

26 Borrowings

The ICB has no Borrowings at the period end

27 Private Finance Initiative, LIFT, and other Service concession arrangements

The ICB had no Private Financae Initiatives, LIFT of other Service concession arrangements at the period end

28 Finance Lease Obligations

The ICB has no Finance Lease obligations at the period end

29 Finance lease receivables

The ICB has no Finance Lease receivables at the period end

Other payables include £1,849k  outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2023

23 Trade and other payables
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30   Provisions

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2022-23 2022-23 2021-22 2021-22

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pensions relating to former directors - - - -

Pensions relating to other staff - - - -

Restructuring - - 160 -

Redundancy - - - -

Agenda for change - - - -

Equal pay - - - -

Legal claims - - - -

Continuing care 1,012 - 1,144 -

Other - - - -

Total 1,012 - 1,304 -

Total current and non-current 1,012 1,304

Pensions  

Relating to 

Former 

Directors

Pensions 

Relating to 

Other Staff Restructuring Redundancy

Agenda for 

Change Equal Pay Legal  Claims

Continuing 

Care Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 01 July 2022 - - - - - - - - - -

Arising during the year - - - - - - - - - -

Utilised during the year - - (160) - - - - (31) - (191)

Reversed unused - - - - - - - (100) - (100)

Unwinding of discount - - - - - - - - - -

Change in discount rate - - - - - - - - - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body - - - - - - - - - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body under absorption - - 160 - - - - 1,144 - 1,304

Balance at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - - 1,013 - 1,013

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year - - - - - - - 1,013 - 1,013

Between one and five years - - - - - - - - - -

After five years - - - - - - - - - -

Balance at 31 March 2023 - - - - - - - 1,013 - 1,013

31 Contingencies

The ICB has no contingencies at the period end.
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32 Commitments

32.1 Capital commitments

2022-23

£'000

Property, plant and equipment -

Intangible assets -

Total -

32.2 Other financial commitments

2022-23

£'000

In not more than one year 91,477

In more than one year but not more than five years -

In more than five years -

Total 91,477

33 Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.4 Liquidity risk

33.1.5 Financial Instruments

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating 

and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-

financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, 

liquidity or market risk.

The ICB has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service concession 

arrangements) which expire as follows:

The ICB borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 

25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. 

The ICB therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the ICB  revenue comes parliamentary funding, the ICB group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum 

exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The ICB is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. 

The ICB draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The ICB is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 

changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the ICB is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, 

financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the 

financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 

financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the ICB in 

undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical 

commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the 

NHS ICB and internal auditors.

The ICB is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling 

based. The NHS ICB has no overseas operations. The NHS ICB therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd

33.2 Financial assets

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

Equity Instruments 

designated at 

FVOCI Total

2022-23 2022-23 2022-23

£'000 £'000 £'000

Equity investment in group bodies - -

Equity investment in external bodies - -

Loans receivable with group bodies - -

Loans receivable with external bodies - -

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 1,317 1,317

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 7,575 7,575

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 10,537 10,537

Other financial assets - -

Cash and cash equivalents 2 2

Total at 31 March 2023 19,431 - 19,431

33.3 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost Other Total

2022-23 2022-23 2022-23

£'000 £'000 £'000

Loans with group bodies - -

Loans with external bodies - -

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 598 598

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 23,850 23,850

Trade and other payables with external bodies 86,018 86,018

Other financial liabilities - -

Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations - -

Total at 31 March 2023 110,466 - 110,466
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34 Operating segments

The ICB and consolidated group consider they have only one Operating Segment, Commissioning of Healthcare.

35 Pooled budgets

The ICB entered into a pooled budget arrangement for Integrated Community Equipment Schemes with Nottinghamshire  

County Council. Under the arrangements, funds are pooled under section 75 of the NHS Act for Integrated Community Equipment Scheme activities.

The Pool is hosted by Nottinghamshire County Council.  As a Commissioner of Healthcare Services, the ICB makes contributions to the pool.

2022/23

£'000

Balance at 30 June

Income 1868

Nottinghamshire County Council ASCH&PP 1,393

Nottinghamshire County Council CFCS 576

Nottinghamshire City Council ASCH & CYP 774

NHS Nottingham & Nottinghamshire ICB 7,054

Other income 45

TOTAL INCOME 11,710

Expenditure

Partnership Management & Administration costs 1036

Contract delivery and collection costs 1397

ICES Equipment 7266

Minor Adaptations 117

Direct Payments 8

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 9,824

Balance at 31 March 1,886

Carry Forward by Partner

Nottinghamshire City Council ASCH 546

Notts County Council - ASCH 1246

Notts County Council - CYPS 0

Notts County Council - PDSS/EY 18

ICELS Staffing reserves 5

NHS Nottingham & Nottinghamshire ICB 71

Balance at 31 March 1,886

The second pooled budget is 'The Better Care Fund (BCF)' and is hosted by Nottingham City Council, and jointly commissions services to achieve national 

and local objectives to integrate health and social care services in Nottingham City.

It is between NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB Nottingham City Council, and its aims are to improve the quality & efficiency of services.

Memorandum Account for Nottingham City Better Care Fund

2022/23

£'000

Funding

NHS Nottingham & Nottinghamshire ICB 20649

Nottingham City Council (Capital) 2076

Nottingham City Council   0

Nottingham City Council (Improved Better Care Fund) 12452

Total Funding 35,177

Expenditure

Access & Navigation 1,613

Assistive Technology 353

Carers 536

Co-ordinated Care 12,452

Capital Grants 2,076

Independence Pathway 0

Programme Costs 0

Integrated Care 13,884

Primary Care 2,132

Facilitating Discharge 2,063

Housing Related Schemes 68

Total Expenditure 35,177

Balance Carried forward for all partners 0

NHS Nottingham & Nottinghamshire  ICBs's shares of the Income & expenditure 

handled by the pooled budget in the financial year was as below:

2022/23

£'000

Income 10,898

Expenditure -10,898

TOTAL 0

The table below shows the full year detail of the pooled budget.  The CCGs contibuted for the period 01 April 2022 to 30 June 2022.  the ICB then contributed for the period 1 July 2022 to March 2023

The table below shows the full year detail of the pooled budget.  The ICBs contibuted for the period 01 April 2022 to 30 June 2022.  The ICB then contributed for the period 1 July 2022 to March 2023
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36 NHS Lift investments
The ICB has no L FT investments at the year end

37 Related party transactions

Payments to Related 

Party

Receipts from Related 

Party

Amounts owed to 

Related Party

Amounts due from 

Related Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Eastwood Primary Care Centre 1,895 0 69 0

Primary Integrated Community Services 2,314 0 120 0

NEMS 10,059 0 453 0

Greater Nottingham Lift Co 72 0 56 0

Derby Health United Health Care CIC 67 0 4 0

Department of Health 0 30 0 0

NHS England 1,524 561 598 1,317

NHS Trusts 568,024 328 4,648 1,559

Foundation Trusts 591,974 468 5,767 3,023

Agencies 0 0 0 0

Health Education England 0 1,520 0 0

Special Health Authorities 16 0 0 0

Other Group Bodies 9,487 0 1,344 0

Nottingham City Council 34,086 437 5,184 76

Nottinghamshire County Council 10,889 62,311 8,946 12,915

38 Events After the Reporting Peiod

The ICB has no events After the Reporting Period

39 Third Party Assets

The  ICB has no Third Pary Asseta at the year end.

40 Financial performance targets

The ICB have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The ICB performance against those duties was as follows:

2022-23 2022-23

Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 1,837,393 1,837,386

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 60 19

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 1,816,517 1,816,510

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 19,565 16,249

41 Analysis of charitable reserves

The ICB has no Charitable Reserves at the period end
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42 Losses and special payments

Losses

Total Number of 

Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

2022-23 2022-23

Number £'000

Administrative write-offs 4 78

Fruitless payments - -

Store losses - -

Book Keeping Losses - -

Constructive loss - -

Cash losses - -

Claims abandoned - -

Total 4 78

Special payments

Total Number of 

Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

2022-23 2022-23

Number £'000

Compensation payments - -

Compensation payments Treasury Approved - -

Extra Contractual Payments - -

Extra Contractual Payments Treasury Approved - -

Ex Gratia Payments - -

Ex Gratia Payments Treasury Approved - -

Extra Statutory Extra Regulatory Payments - -

Extra Statutory Extra Regulatory Payments Treasury Approved - -

Special Severance Payments Treasury Approved - -

Special Severance Payments - -

Total - -

The total number of ICB losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 
OF NHS NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE INTEGRATED CARE 
BOARD  
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated 
Care Board (“the ICB”) for the nine month period ended 31 March 2023 which comprise the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including 
the accounting policies in note 1. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the ICB’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of its
income and expenditure for the nine month period then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by NHS
England with the consent of the Secretary of State on 26 April 2023 as being relevant to
ICBs in England and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2022/23; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended).

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulfilled our 
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the ICB in accordance with, UK ethical 
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 

The Accountable Officer of the ICB (“the Accountable Officer”) has prepared the financial 
statements on the going concern basis, as they have not been informed by the relevant national 
body of the intention to either cease the ICB’s services or dissolve the ICB without the transfer 
of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded that there are no 
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a 
going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the 
going concern period”).   

In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks 
associated with the continuity of services provided by the ICB over the going concern period.  

Our conclusions based on this work: 

• we consider that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate; and

• we have not identified, and concur with the Accountable Officer’s assessment that there is
not, a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the ICB’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going
concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may 
result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they 
were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the ICB will continue in operation.  



Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect 
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud 

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or 
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity 
to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included: 

• Enquiring of management, the Audit and Risk Committee and internal audit and inspection
of policy documentation as to the ICB’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and
detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the ICB’s channel for
“whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

• Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate reported expenditure as a result
of the need to achieve statutory targets delegated to the ICB by NHS England.

• Reading Board and Audit and Risk Committee minutes.

• Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

• Reading the ICB’s accounting policies.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any 
indications of fraud throughout the audit. 

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet 
delegated statutory resource limits, we performed procedures to address the risk of 
management override of controls, in particular the risk that ICB management may be in a 
position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates 
and judgements such as accruals. 

In line with the guidance set out in Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public 
Sector Bodies in the United Kingdom we also recognised a fraud risk related to expenditure 
recognition, particularly in relation to the completeness and accuracy of year-end accruals. 

On this audit we did not identify a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of the nature 
of funding provided to the ICB, which is transferred from NHS England and recognised through 
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity.  

We also identified a fraud risk related to potential manipulation of accruals and expenditure 
recognition. This is also in response to possible pressures to meet delegated statutory resource 
limits. 

We also performed procedures including: 

• Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries
to supporting documentation. These included unexpected postings related to cash,
unexpected expenditure journals posted near period end and material post close journal
entries.

• Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of
a potential bias.

• Inspecting a sample of transactions in the period after 31 March 2023 to verify that
expenditure had been recognised in the correct accounting period.

• Evaluating accruals posted as at 31 March 2023, and performing sample testing to verify
accruals are appropriate and accurately recorded.



 

 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws 
and regulations 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a 
material effect on the financial statements from our general sector experience and through 
discussion with the Board and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from 
inspection of the ICB’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors 
and other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and 
regulations.   
 
We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to 
any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. 

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies 
considerably. 
 
The ICB is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including 
the financial reporting aspects of NHS legislation. We assessed the extent of compliance with 
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.  
 
Whilst the ICB is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others 
where the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or 
disclosures in the financial statements 
 
Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation 

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have 
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have 
properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, 
the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and 
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited 
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.   

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are 
not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations. 

Other information in the Annual Report 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information, which comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work: 

• we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and 

• in our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report for the financial period is 
consistent with the financial statements. 

 

 

 

 



Annual Governance Statement 

We are required by the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 
2020 on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”) to report 
to you if the Annual Governance Statement has not been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2022/23.  
We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Remuneration and Staff Reports 

In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports subject to audit have been 
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2022/23. 

Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 45, the Accountable Officer of the ICB 
is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view.  They 
are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; assessing the ICB’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to either cease 
the services provided by the ICB or dissolve the ICB without the transfer of its services to 
another public sector entity. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our 
opinion in an auditor’s report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.   

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS 

Opinion on regularity 

We are required to report on the following matters under Section 21(4) and (5) of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.  

Report on the ICB’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources  

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report if we identify any significant 
weaknesses in the arrangements that have been made by the ICB to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

We have nothing to report in this respect. 



Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources   

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 45, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for ensuring that the ICB exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically.  We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the ICB has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the ICB’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 

We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
and related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the ICB had proper arrangements in 
place to ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use information about costs 
and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.  

Statutory reporting matters 

We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice to report to you if we refer a matter 
to the Secretary of State and NHS England under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the ICB, or an officer of the 
ICB, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body 
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action 
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency. 

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

This report is made solely to the Members of the Board of NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the Members of the Board of the ICB, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the Board of the ICB, 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire ICB for the nine month period ended 31 March 2023 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Richard Walton 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP 
Chartered Accountants  
EastWest  
Tollhouse Hill  
Nottingham  
NG1 5FS   

30 June 2023 




